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Explanatory Note  

As previously reported on a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on August 28, 2014 (the 
“Initial Form 8-K”), Cirrus Logic, Inc. (the “Company”) completed the acquisition of all of the issued and to be issued share capital of Wolfson 
Microelectronics plc, a public limited company incorporated in Scotland (“Wolfson”) on August 21, 2014 pursuant to Rule 2.7 of the United 
Kingdom City Code on Takeovers and Mergers (the “Acquisition”). This Form 8-K/A amends the Initial Form 8-K to include the financial 
statements and pro forma financial information required by Item 9.01.  

   
   

The historical audited consolidated financial statements of Wolfson, including the consolidated balance sheets as of December 29, 
2013 and December 30, 2012 and the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows 
for each of the three fiscal years ended December 29, 2013, December 30, 2012 and January 1, 2012 are filed as Exhibit 99.1 hereto 
and incorporated herein by reference.  

The Report of Independent Auditor, issued by KPMG LLP, dated October 29, 2014, relating to Wolfson’s audited financial 
statements described above, is attached hereto in Exhibit 99.1 and incorporated herein by reference.  

The unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet of Wolfson as of June 29, 2014 and the related unaudited condensed 
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the six months ended June 29, 
2014 and 2013 are filed as Exhibit 99.3 hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  

   

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet of the Company as of June 28, 2014 and unaudited pro forma 
condensed combined statements of operations of the Company for the first fiscal quarter ended June 28, 2014, as well as the 
unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the fiscal year ended March 29, 2014, in each case giving 
effect to the Acquisition are filed as Exhibit 99.2 hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  
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Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits 

  (a) Financial Statements of Business Acquired . 

  (b) Pro Forma Financial Information . 

  (d) Exhibits 

Exhibit    Description 

23.1    Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Auditors for Wolfson. 

99.1 

   

Audited consolidated balance sheets of Wolfson as of December 29, 2013 and December 30, 2012 and the audited consolidated 
statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three fiscal years ended 
December 29, 2013, December 30, 2012 and January 1, 2012. 

99.2 
   

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements the Company as of and for the fiscal quarter ended June 28, 2014 
and unaudited pro forma statement of operations for the fiscal year ended March 29, 2014 giving effect to the acquisition. 

99.3 

   

Unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet of Wolfson as of June 29, 2014 and the related unaudited condensed 
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the six months ended June 29, 
2014 and 2013 



SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf 
by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.  
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    CIRRUS LOGIC, INC. 

    By:   /s/ Thurman K. Case  
    Name:   Thurman K. Case 
    Title:   Chief Financial Officer 

Date: October 29, 2014       



EXHIBIT INDEX  
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Exhibit 
No.    Description 

23.1    Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Auditors of Wolfson 

99.1 

   

Audited consolidated balance sheets of Wolfson as of December 29, 2013 and December 30, 2012 and the audited consolidated 
statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three fiscal years ended December 
29, 2013, December 30, 2012 and January 1, 2012. 

99.2 
   

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements of the Company and Wolfson as of and for the fiscal quarter ended 
June 28, 2014 and unaudited pro forma condensed statement of operations for the fiscal year ended March 29, 2014. 

99.3 

   

Unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet of Wolfson as of June 29, 2014 and the related unaudited condensed 
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the six months ended June 29, 
2014 and 2013 



Exhibit 23.1 

Consent of Independent Auditors  

The Board of Directors  
Cirrus Logic, Inc.  

The Board of Directors  
Wolfson Microelectronics Limited:  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (No. 333-16417, 333-42693, 333-72573, 333-88345, 333-48490, 
333-67322, 333-101119, 333-107808, 333-117741 and 333-136219) on Form S-8 of Cirrus Logic, Inc. of our report dated October 29, 2014, 
with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Wolfson Microelectronics Limited and its subsidiaries as of December 29, 2013 and 
December 30, 2012 and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for the 52 
week periods ended December 29, 2013, December 30, 2012 and 1 January, 2012, which report appears in the Form 8-K/A of Cirrus Logic, 
Inc. dated October 29, 2014.  
   
/s/ KPMG LLP 

Edinburgh, United Kingdom 

October 29, 2014 



Exhibit 99.1 

Independent Auditors’ Report  

Report to the Board of Directors of Cirrus Logic, Inc. and the Board of Directors of Wolfson Microelectronics Limited on the 
Financial Statements of Wolfson Microelectronics Limited  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Wolfson Microelectronics Limited and its subsidiaries, which 
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of December 29, 2013 and December 30, 2012 and the related consolidated 
statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for the 52 week periods ended December 29, 
2013, December 30, 2012 and 1 January, 2012, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board; this includes the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

Auditors’ Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no 
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Opinion  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Wolfson 
Microelectronics Limited and its subsidiaries as of December 29, 2013 and December 30 2012 and the results of their operations and their cash 
flows for the 52 week periods ended December 29, 2013, December 30, 2012 and 1 January, 2012, in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.  

/s/ KPMG LLP  
Edinburgh  
United Kingdom  

29 October 2014  



Audited consolidated financial statements of Wolfson Microelectronics plc as of and for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2013  

WOLFSON MICROELECTRONICS plc  
Consolidated Income Statements  

(in thousands, except for per share data)  
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     FISCAL YEAR ENDED   
     Dec. 29,     Dec. 30,     Jan. 01,   
     2013     2012     2012   
Revenue     $ 179,436      $ 179,749      $ 156,912    

Cost of sales       103,457        95,536        86,704    
                               

Gross Profit       75,979        84,213        70,208    
                               

Research and development       58,334        54,839        56,302    
Selling, general and administrative       37,335        37,284        39,894    
Exceptional charges / (gain)       600        1,400        (1,829 )  

                               

Total operating expenses       96,269        93,523        94,367    

Operating loss       (20,290 )      (9,310 )      (24,159 )  

Interest income       95        258        1,576    
Other income / (expense), net       (178 )      (271 )      (1,470 )  

                               

Loss before income taxes       (20,373 )      (9,323 )      (24,053 )  
Benefit for income taxes       (3,953 )      (3,268 )      (6,167 )  

                               

Net loss     $ (16,420 )    $ (6,055 )    $ (17,886 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

Loss per Share         
Basic     $ (0.14 )    $ (0.05 )    $ (0.15 )  
Diluted     $ (0.14 )    $ (0.05 )    $ (0.15 )  

Weighted average shares outstanding:         
Basic       116,710        116,477        116,198    
Diluted       116,710        116,477        116,198    



WOLFSON MICROELECTRONICS plc  
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  

(in thousands)  
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     FISCAL YEAR ENDED   
     Dec. 29,     Dec. 30,     Jan. 01,   
     2013     2012     2012   

Loss for the period:     $ (16,420 )    $ (6,055 )    $ (17,886 )  

Other comprehensive income:         
Items that will never be reclassfied to profit or loss:         

Actuarial gain / (loss) on net defined benefit obligations       2,403        (504 )      (3,477 )  
Increase in defined benefit liabilities recognised in accordance with IFRIC 14       (2,400 )      —          (1,500 )  
Movement in unrecognised surplus on defined benefit plan       (2,236 )      301        (301 )  
Deferred tax on net defined benefit items recognised in equity       398        16        1,320    

                               

     (1,835 )      (187 )      (3,958 )  
                               

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:         
Foreign exchange translation differences on foreign operations       (5 )      (2 )      3    
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges       1,768        773        (180 )  

                               

     1,763        771        (177 )  
                               

       
                               

Other comprehensive income for the period       (72 )      584        (4,135 )  
                               

Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to the owners of the Company     $ (16,492 )    $ (5,471 )    $ (22,021 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  



WOLFSON MICROELECTRONICS plc  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET  
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     As at      As at   
     Dec. 29,      Dec. 30,   
     2013      2012   

ASSETS        
Current assets        

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 25,886       $ 19,974    
Short-term deposits       —           28,000    
Accounts receivable, net       28,899         37,805    
Inventories       24,221         24,702    
Other current assets       2,389         621    

                      

Total current assets       81,395         111,102    

Property and equipment, net       20,501         24,142    
Intangibles, net       32,073         32,360    
Deferred tax asset       17,403         13,386    

                      

Total assets     $ 151,372       $ 180,990    
         

  

         

  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’  EQUITY        
Current liabilities        

Accounts payable     $ 20,966       $ 37,702    
Other accrued liabilities       1,078         80    

                      

Total current liabilities       22,044         37,782    

Other long-term obligations       4,383         3,298    

Stockholders’  equity:        
Capital stock       62,127         61,950    
Accumulated earnings       60,429         77,339    
Accumulated other comprehensive income       2,389         621    

                      

Total stockholders’  equity       124,945         139,910    
                      

Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity     $ 151,372       $ 180,990    
         

  

         

  



WOLFSON MICROELECTRONICS plc  
Consolidated statement of cash flows  
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     FISCAL YEAR ENDED   
     Dec. 29,     Dec. 30,     Jan. 01,   
     2013     2012     2012   
     $’000     $’000     $’000   

Cash flows from operating activities         
Loss for the period     $ (16,420 )    $ (6,055 )    $ (17,886 )  
Adjustments for:         
Depreciation and amortisation       11,839        9,499        13,654    
Foreign exchange losses/(gains)       292        (283 )      219    
Disposal of asset loss       35        —          —      
Financial expense       178        271        1,470    
Financial income       (95 )      (258 )      (1,576 )  
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses       1,674        2,626        4,100    
Curtailment gain on defined benefit plan       —          —          (1,829 )  
Income tax credit       (3,953 )      (3,268 )      (6,167 )  
Working Capital Adjustments:         
(Increase) / decrease in inventories       481        (1,801 )      6,227    
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables       9,059        (8,266 )      (2,025 )  
Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables       (12,457 )      11,769        (19,999 )  
Increase /(decrease) in provisions and employee benefits       (3,576 )      (1,154 )      (3,388 )  
Income taxes (paid) / received       64        (31 )      (317 )  

         
  

        
  

        
  

Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities       (12,879 )      3,049        (27,517 )  
                               

Interest received       106        225        337    
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets       (7,757 )      (6,148 )      (6,535 )  
Proceeds of sales of assets       180        —          —      
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired       —          —          (4,305 )  
Deferred consideration paid for acquisition of subsidiary in prior year       (1,773 )      (3,200 )      (800 )  
Amounts (placed on) / withdrawn from short-term deposits       28,000        5,000        43,000    

                               

Net cash (outflow) / inflow from investing activities       18,756        (4,123 )      31,697    
                               

Cash flows from financing activities         
Proceeds from the issue of share capital       177        555        652    
Net purchase of own shares held under trust       (2 )      (7 )      (5,390 )  
Interest paid       (14 )      (29 )      (95 )  

                               

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from financing activities       161        519        (4,833 )  
                               

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents       6,038        (555 )      (653 )  
Cash and cash equivalents at start of period       19,974        20,409        21,083    
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held       (126 )      120        (21 )  

                               

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period       25,886        19,974        20,409    
                               

Short-term deposits at end of period       —          28,000        33,000    
                               

Total cash and short-term deposits at end of period     $ 25,886      $ 47,974      $ 53,409    
         

  

        

  

        

  



WOLFSON MICROELECTRONICS plc  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’  EQUITY  

(in thousands)  
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                      Accumulated         
    Common     Additional           Other         
    Stock     Paid-In     Accumulated     Comprehensive         
    Shares     Capital     Earnings     Income     Total   
    $     $     $     $     $   
Balance, January 3, 2011      193        60,550        105,817        28        166,588    
Net loss          (17,886 )        (17,886 )  

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges            (180 )      (180 )  

Actuarial loss on net defined benefit obligations          (3,477 )        (3,477 )  
Increase in defined benefit liabilities recognised in accordance with 

IFRIC 14          (1,500 )        (1,500 )  
Unrecognized surplus on defined benefit plan          (301 )        (301 )  
Deferred tax on net defined benefit items recognized in equity          1,320          1,320    
Equity settled share-based payment transactions          4,119          4,119    
Deferred tax on equity settled share-based payment transactions 

recognized in equity          (2,164 )        (2,164 )  
Share options exercised by employees        652            652    
Company shares acquired by employee trust          (5,390 )        (5,390 )  
Foreign exchange translation differences on foreign operations          3          3    

                                                  

Balance, January 1, 2012      193        61,202        80,541        (152 )      141,784    
Net loss          (6,055 )        (6,055 )  
Actuarial loss on net defined benefit obligations          (504 )        (504 )  
Movement in unrecognized surplus on defined benefit plan          301          301    
Deferred tax on net defined benefit items recognized in equity          16          16    
Foreign exchange translation differences on foreign operations          (2 )        (2 )  

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges            773        773    

Share options exercised by employees      1        554            555    
Deferred tax on equity settled share-based payment transactions 

recognized in equity          423          423    
Equity settled share-based payment transactions          2,626          2,626    
Company shares acquired by employee trust          (7 )        (7 )  

                                                  

Balance, December 30, 2012      194        61,756        77,339        621        139,910    
Net loss          (16,420 )        (16,420 )  
Actuarial gain on net defined benefit obligations          2,403          2,403    
Movement in unrecognized surplus on defined benefit plan          (2,236 )        (2,236 )  
Deferred tax on net defined benefit items recognized in equity          398          398    
Foreign exchange translation differences on foreign operations          (5 )        (5 )  
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges            1,768        1,768    
Share options exercised by employees        177            177    
Increase in defined benefit liabilities recognised in accordance with 

IFRIC 14          (2,400 )        (2,400 )  
Deferred tax on equity settled share-based payment transactions 

recognized in equity          (322 )        (322 )  
Equity settled share-based payment transactions          1,674          1,674    
Company shares acquired by employee trust          (2 )        (2 )  

                                                  

Balance, December 29, 2013      194        61,933        60,429        2,389        124,945    
        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1. Basis of preparation  

Wolfson Microelectronics Limited (the “Company”) is a company domiciled and incorporated in Scotland. The audited consolidated balance 
sheets of Wolfson as of December 29, 2013 and December 30, 2012 and the audited consolidated statements of income, comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows for the fifty-two weeks ended 29 December 2013 (referred to as “2013” for the purposes of these 
notes to the financial statements), 30 December 2012 (referred to as “2012” for the purposes of these notes to the financial statements) and 
1 January 2012 (referred to as “2011” for the purposes of these notes to the financial statements) comprise those of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The balance sheets for the fifty-two weeks ended 29 December 2013 (referred to as “2013” 
for the purposes of these notes to the financial statements), 30 December 2012 (referred to as “2012” for the purposes of these notes to the 
financial statements) are included herein.  

The Group has financial resources comprising, as at 29 December 2013: cash and cash equivalent balances of $25.9 million, 30 December 
2012: cash and cash equivalent balances of $20.0 million and short term deposits of $28.0 million. The Group has no loans or borrowings or 
complex financial instruments as at 29 December 2013 but subsequent to the year-end a $25 million working capital bank facility was agreed 
(Note 28). The Group has established relationships with a number of the leading global consumer electronics manufacturers and integrated 
circuits developed by the Group are designed into a range of the end products for these customers. As a consequence, the directors believe that 
the Group is well placed to manage its business risks successfully.  

   

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  

   

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items in the balance sheet:  
   

   

   

   

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“US dollars”), the Group’s functional currency, rounded to the nearest 
thousand.  

   

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which 
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.  

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.  

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a 
significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 27.  

Exceptional Items  

As permitted by IAS 1: ‘Presentation of financial statements’ , the Group has disclosed additional information in respect of exceptional items 
on the face of the income statement in order to aid understanding of the Group’s financial performance. An item is treated as exceptional if it is 
considered that by virtue of its nature, scale or incidence and being of such significance that separate disclosure is required for the financial 
statements to be properly understood.  
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(a) Statement of compliance 

(b) Basis of measurement 

  •   derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value (refer to note 2(f)) 

  
•   assets and liabilities recognised on acquisition as a result of business combinations are measured at fair value (refer to note 2 

(e) (iv) and 2 (x) (i) and (ii)) 

  •   net defined benefit liability measured at the fair value of plan assets less the present value of the defined benefit obligations, limited 
as explained in note 2 (n) (ii). 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements 



The following changes in accounting policies are reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial statements as at, and for the 52 week period 
ending, 29 December 2013. The Group has adopted the following new standards and amendments to standards, including any consequential 
amendments to other standards, with a date of initial application for the Group’s financial statements of 31 December 2012:  
   

   

   

   

   

The nature and the effect of the changes are further explained below.  
   

As a result of IAS19 (2011), the Group has changed its accounting policy with respect to the basis for determining the income or expense 
relating to its defined benefit pension scheme. The Group has applied IAS19 (2011) retrospectively in the current period in accordance 
with the transitional provisions set out in the revised standard.  

In accordance with IAS 19 (2011), the Group determines the net interest expense (income) for the period on the net defined benefit 
liability (asset) by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the 
net defined benefit liability (asset) at the beginning of the annual period, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit 
liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Consequently, the net interest on the net defined 
benefit liability (asset) now comprises:  

   

   

Previously, the Group determined interest income on plan assets based on their long-term rate of expected return. Further details of the effect of 
this change are set out in note 1 e (v) below.  

IAS 19 (2011) also required more extensive disclosures. These have been provided in note 19.  

   

As a result of the amendments to IAS 1, the Group has modified the presentation of items of other comprehensive income in its 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, to present separately items that would be reclassified to profit or loss in the future from 
those that would never be. Comparative information has also been re-presented accordingly. The adoption of this amendment to IAS 1 
has no impact on the recognised assets, liabilities and comprehensive income of the Group.  

   

There are no changes to the accounting for subsidiaries within the Group as a result of IFRS 10 (2011). The Group has no other 
investments in the current or prior periods and therefore IFRS 10 (2011) has no impact on the Group’s assets and liabilities.  

   

IFRS 13 establishes a single framework for measuring fair value and making disclosures about fair value measurements, when such 
measurements are required or permitted by other IFRSs. In particular, it unfired the definition of fair value as the price at which an 
orderly transaction to sell an asset or to transfer a liability would take place between market participants at the measurement date. It also 
replaces and expands the disclosure requirements about fair value measurements in other IFRSs, including IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures. As a result, the Group has included additional disclosures in this regard in note 22.  

   
7  

(e) Changes in accounting policies 

  •   IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Revised 2011) (see (i)) 

  •   Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income (Amendments to IAS 1) (see (ii)) 

  •   IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (2011) (see (iii)) 

  •   IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (see (iii)) 

  •   IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (see (iv)) 

  (i) Defined benefit plan 

  •   Interest cost on the defined benefit obligation; and 

  •   Interest income on plan assets. 

  (ii) Presentation of items of other comprehensive income 

  (iii) Subsidiaries and joint arrangements 

  (iv) Fair value measurement 



In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 13, the Group has applied the new fair value measurement guidance prospectively, 
and has not provided any comparative information for new disclosures. The change in fair value measurement guidance had no 
significant impact on the measurements of the Group’s assets and liabilities.  

   

The above changes did not impact the financial position of the Group as at 29 December 2013 or as at 30 December 2012. The 
following tables summarises the impact resulting from the above changes in accounting policies on the Group’s statements of 
comprehensive income and cash flows.  

Consolidated income statement:  

Effect of changes in accounting policies: Defined benefit plan (see note 1 e (i) above)  
   

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income:  

Effect of changes in accounting policies: Defined benefit plan (see note 1 e (i) above)  
   

Statements of cash flows:  

Effect of changes in accounting policies: Defined benefit plan (see note 1 e (i) above)  
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  (v) Summary of quantitative impact 

     2013     2012     2011   
   $ 000      $ 000      $ 000    

Financial Income       (150 )      27        —      
Net financing (expense) / income       (150 )      27        —      
Loss before tax       (150 )      27        —      
Income tax credit       32        (6 )      —      
Overall (increase) / decrease in loss for the period       (118 )      21        —      

     2013     2012     2011   
   $ 000      $ 000      $ 000    

Loss for the period       (118 )      21        —      
Actuarial gain / (loss) on net defined benefit obligations       150        (27 )      —      
Deferred tax on net defined benefit items recognised in equity       (32 )      6        —      
Overall impact on total comprehensive income for the period       —          —          —      

     2013     2012     2011   
   $ 000      $ 000      $ 000    

Loss for the period       (118 )      21        —      
Financial income       150        (27 )      —      
Income tax credit       (32 )      6        —      
Overall increase in net cash (outflow) / inflow from operating activities       —          —          —      



During 2012, the provisional fair value of the contingent consideration in respect of the acquisition, in 2011, of Dynamic Hearing Pty Ltd was 
finalised, resulting in an increase in contingent consideration payable of $131,000 and a corresponding increase of $131,000 in goodwill. The 
amounts for other payables and for intangible assets at 1 January 2012 have been restated accordingly.  

2. Significant accounting policies  

The accounting policies set out below, unless otherwise stated in note 1(e) above, have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these financial statements.  

   
   

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The Company controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns 
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences to the date that control ceases. All subsidiaries have 29 December 
2013 as their financial year end.  

   

Intragroup transactions, balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  

   

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group (see note 2 (a) (i)). The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value as are the 
identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment (refer to note 2 (k)).  

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:  
   

   

   

   

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.  

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities that the Group incurs in connection with a business 
combination are expensed as incurred. For any business combinations which had an acquisition date prior to 1 July 2009, transaction costs, 
other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurred in connection with business combinations were 
capitalised as part of the cost of the acquisition.  

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted 
against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments (see below). If the contingent consideration is classified 
as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, for any business combinations which occur on or 
after 1 July 2009, subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.  
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(f) Restatement of comparatives 

(a) Basis of consolidation 

(i) Subsidiaries 

(ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

(b) Business combinations 

  •   the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 

  •   the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree; plus 

  •   if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the acquiree; less 

  •   the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 



For any business combinations which had an acquisition date prior to 1 July 2009, subsequent adjustments in the fair value of the contingent 
consideration are made against goodwill, except in the case of equity instruments, in which case the adjustment is made in equity.  

If there is adjustment to any deferred tax assets of the acquiree subsequent to the date of acquisition this impacts the measurement of goodwill 
only if it occurs within the measurement period (see below) and if it results from new information about facts and circumstances that already 
existed at the acquisition date. If this is not the case then the impact of the recognition or remeasurement of such deferred tax assets is 
recognised in profit or loss.  

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group receives complete information about facts and 
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date – and is subject to a maximum of one year.  

   
   

Transactions in currencies, other than US dollars, are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities in currencies other than US dollars at the balance sheet date are translated to US dollars at the exchange rate ruling at that date. 
Exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement except for differences arising on qualifying cash flow 
hedges which are recognised directly in equity (see accounting policy (f)). Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a currency other than US dollars are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in currencies other than US dollars that are measured at fair value are retranslated to US Dollars at the date that fair 
value was determined.  

   

The assets and liabilities of operations outside the UK, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated to 
US dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The income and expenses of foreign operations reported in other 
currencies are translated to US dollars at rates approximating to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Foreign 
exchange differences arising on retranslation of opening net assets or liabilities are recognised directly in equity and reported in other 
comprehensive income.  

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, 
foreign currency gains and losses arising from such items are considered to form part of a net investment in the foreign operation and are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and reported directly in equity.  

   
   

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation (see accounting policy (d) (ii)) and accumulated 
impairment losses (see accounting policy (k)).  

Cost includes the expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different estimated useful lives, they are accounted for and depreciated as 
separate items of property, plant and equipment.  

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the 
Group or the Company. On-going repairs and maintenance expenditure is expensed as incurred.  
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(c) Foreign currency 

(i) Foreign currency transactions and balances 

(ii) Financial statements of foreign operations 

(d) Property, plant and equipment 

(i) Owned assets 



Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, less its residual value. Depreciation is charged to the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of property, plant and equipment. Freehold land is not 
depreciated.  

The estimated useful lives are as follows:  
   

The residual values and estimated useful lives, of items of property plant and equipment, are reviewed annually and are adjusted if appropriate.  

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the net disposal proceeds with the 
carrying amount and are included in the income statement.  

   
   

Goodwill that arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries is recognised as an intangible asset at the acquisition date. For the measurement of 
goodwill at initial recognition, see accounting policy (b).  

Subsequent measurement  

Goodwill is not amortised but is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses (see accounting policy (k)).  

   

Expenditure on research activities undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding is 
recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.  

When it has been assessed that a product (including software) is technically feasible, production and sale are intended, a market exists and 
sufficient resources are available to complete the project, development costs thereafter are capitalised and amortised from the date of the first 
sale on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the product. The Group believes its current process for developing products is 
essentially completed when products have achieved the ‘Release to Production’ status which confirms technical and commercial feasibility of 
the products to be manufactured and sold to the commercial marketplace. Development costs incurred after the establishment of technical and 
commercial feasibility have not been significant and, therefore, no costs have been capitalised to date. Where no internally-generated intangible 
asset can be recognised based on the above criteria, development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. 
Expenditure incurred in relation to the maintenance and / or enhancements of existing products is not considered to be of a development nature 
and, accordingly, is also recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.  

   

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring into use the specific software. These 
costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives (one to three years).  

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs that are directly associated 
with the development of identifiable and unique software items controlled by the Group, and that will probably generate economic benefits 
exceeding costs beyond one year, are capitalised as intangible assets. Other costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software 
programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.  
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(ii) Depreciation 

Freehold property     25 years 
Plant and equipment     1 to 5 years 
Computer hardware     1 to 3 years 
Furniture and fittings     10 years 
Motor vehicles     4 years 

(e) Intangible assets 

(i) Goodwill 

(ii) Research and development 

(iii) C omputer software 



Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives (not 
exceeding three years).  

   

Other intangible assets are stated at cost or, for items acquired in business combinations, at fair value as of initial recognition date or business 
combination date, net of amortisation and any provision for impairment. The directors are primarily responsible for determining the fair value 
of intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination although independent valuations are obtained for those intangible assets which 
are significant.  

Amortisation is provided at rates so as to write off the cost or fair value, less estimated residual value, of each asset on a straight line basis over 
its expected useful economic life.  

The principal economic lives used for this purpose are:  
   

Amortisation methods, useful lives and the estimated residual values are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.  

   

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge some of its foreign currency exposures. Derivatives are recognised initially at fair 
value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at 
fair value and changes therein are accounted for as described below.  

Cash flow hedges  

A cash flow hedge is when a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or loss. Changes in 
the fair value of the derivative hedging instrument designated as a cash flow hedge are recognised directly in other comprehensive income to 
the extent that the hedge is effective and presented in the hedging reserve in equity. To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, changes in fair 
value of the derivative are recognised immediately in profit or loss.  

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the designation is 
revoked then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income and presented in the hedging reserve in equity remains there until the forecast transaction occurs and affects profit or loss.  

When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount accumulated in equity is included in the carrying amount of the asset when the asset 
is recognised. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the balance in other comprehensive income is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. In other cases, the amount recognised in other comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss in the same 
period that the hedged item affects profit or loss.  
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(iv) Other intangible assets 

Acquired in-process research and development    5 years 
Developed technology    5 years 
Existing agreements and customer relationships    2 to 3.5 years 
Intellectual property rights    10 years 
Technology licences    6 months to 3 years 

(f) Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting 



Trade and other receivables are initially stated at their fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, such assets are measured at amortised cost using an effective interest rate less any impairment losses (see accounting policy (k)). A 
provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the estimated future cash flows, discounted if material. The amount of the provision is recognised in the income statement.  

   

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of business, less the estimated costs to completion and selling expenses.  

The cost of inventories is based on the first-in first-out method and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing 
them to their existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes raw materials, other 
direct costs and related overheads based on normal operating capacity.  

   

Short-term deposits comprise cash deposits held with highly credit rated financial institutions with original maturities of more than three 
months and up to one year.  

   

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits, with original maturities of three months or less, held with banks.  

   

The carrying amounts of the Group’s actual assets, other than financial assets, inventories (see accounting policy (h)) and deferred tax assets 
(see accounting policy (t)), are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated (see accounting policy (k)(i)).  

Assets, including goodwill, that have an indefinite useful life or are not yet available for use are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment.  

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit (CGU) exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGUs and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets 
in the CGU on a pro rata basis.  

   

The recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable 
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so 
that the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. 
The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to groups of cash-generating units that are 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.  

   

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed 
subsequently.  
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(g) Trade and other receivables 

(h) Inventories 

(i) Short-term deposits 

(j) Cash and cash equivalents 

(k) Impairment 

(i) Calculation of recoverable amount 

(ii) Reversals of impairment 



Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.  

   

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in the income 
statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest rate basis.  

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the balance sheet date.  

   
   

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will 
have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are 
recognised as an expense in the income statement when services are rendered by employees.  

   

The Group’s net obligation in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and 
the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the balance sheet date on high quality credit rated bonds which are 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s 
obligations. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a 
potential asset to the Group, the recognised asset is limited to the total of any unrecognised past service costs and the present value of economic 
benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. In order to calculate the 
present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum funding requirements that apply to the plan. An economic benefit is 
available to the Group if it is realisable during the life of the plan, or on settlement of the plan liabilities.  

The movement in the net obligation in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is split between operating expenses and net financing 
income / (expense) in the income statement and actuarial gains and losses in other comprehensive income. Remeasurements of the net defined 
benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, 
excluding interest), are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income. The Group determines the net interest expense (income) on the 
net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning 
of the annual period to the net defined benefit liability (assets) at that time, taking into account any changes in the net defined liability (assets) 
during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to the defined benefit 
pension plan are recognised in profit or loss.  

The Group recognises gains and losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan when the curtailment or settlement occurs. The 
gain or loss on curtailment or settlement comprises any resulting change in the fair value of plan assets, any change in the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation, any related actuarial gains and losses and past service cost that had not previously been recognised.  

The Group recognises immediately all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans directly in other comprehensive income.  
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(l) Share capital 

(m) Interest-bearing borrowings 

(n) Employee benefits 

(i) Defined contribution plans 

(ii) Defined benefit plan 



Share options  

The share option schemes allow Group employees to acquire shares of the Company.  

Share options granted before 7 November 2002  

No expense is recognised in respect of these options. When the share options are exercised, the proceeds received are allocated between share 
capital and share premium. The disclosures required by IFRS2 have been given for these options.  

Share options granted after 7 November 2002 and vested after 1 January 2005  

IFRS 2 “Share-based payments” is effective in respect of options granted after 7 November 2002 and which had not vested as at 1 January 
2005. There were no options granted after 7 November 2002 which had vested before 1 January 2005. The fair value of options granted to 
employees is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread 
over the period during which the employee becomes unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the options granted is measured 
using a Black-Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.  

The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of share options that for which the related service and non-market 
vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of share options 
that do meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. The estimates of the number of options that are 
expected to become exercisable are reviewed at each balance sheet date. The impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, is recognised 
in the income statement and a corresponding adjustment to equity. For share option awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair 
value of the share option is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes.  

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium (the 
balance) when the options are exercised.  

Performance shares  

The grant date fair value of contingent performance shares awarded to directors and senior management is recognised as an employee expense, 
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to the shares. The amount 
recognised as an expense, for awards with non-market performance conditions, is adjusted to reflect the actual number of shares that vest. For 
performance shares award with market vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the performance share is measured to reflect such 
conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes.  

Contingent shares  

The grant date fair value of contingent shares awarded to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in 
equity, over the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to the shares. The amount recognised as an expense, for awards with 
service and non-market performance conditions, is adjusted to reflect the actual number of shares that vest.  

Company share options and other share-based awards granted to subsidiaries  

The charge related to the equity shares in the Company awarded under the share schemes to employees of subsidiary companies is treated as an 
increase in the cost of investment held by the Company in the subsidiary companies of the Group.  

   

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for cash bonuses. This expense is recognised as an employee expense. The Group recognises a 
liability for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus plans where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that 
has created a constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated 
reliably.  
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(iii) Share-based payment transactions 

(iv) Bonus plans 



The Company has established two employee share trusts: “The Wolfson Microelectronics No.1 Employees’ Share Trust” and “The Wolfson 
Microelectronics No.2 Employees’ Share Trust” which are separately administered trusts that are funded by loans from the Company. The 
assets of these trusts comprise shares in the Company and cash balances. The Company recognises the assets and liabilities of these trusts in its 
own accounts and shares held by the trusts are recorded at cost as a deduction in arriving at shareholders’ funds.  

   

Trade and other payables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  

   

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, 
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.  

Restructuring  

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring either 
has commenced or has been announced publicly. Future operating losses are not provided for.  

   

Revenue comprises the sale of goods, income for design services supplied and royalty income earned during the period and excludes sales 
taxes.  

   

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the income statement when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred to the buyer. As well as selling directly to customers, the Group also sells its products via third party distributors on terms which 
provide some distributors with an unconditional right of return. Revenue from the sale of products via distributors with such return rights is 
currently recognised only when such distributors have themselves sold the goods to third parties. Once an appropriate and reliable track record 
for the level of returns has been established, revenue from sales to distributors will be recognised with reference to an estimate of returns 
considered likely.  
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(o) Employee share trusts 

(p) Trade and other payables 

(q) Provisions 

(r) Revenue 

(i) Product revenues 



Design income on specific contracts is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion, at the reporting date, taking into 
account the expected costs and time to complete. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to the project milestones achieved. Where 
revenue exceeds payments on account, an amount recoverable under contracts is established and included within receivables. Where payments 
on account exceed revenue, a payment received on account is established and included within payables.  

   

Royalty income represents revenue earned under joint product development agreements and software and technology licence agreements. Such 
revenue is earned and income is recognised when sales of the developed product to third parties for which royalty is due are confirmed to the 
Group.  

Revenue from technology licences is recognised on delivery to the customer, which is when it is considered the conditions outlined below are 
met:  
   

   

   

   

   
   

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  

   

Net financing costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method, interest receivable on funds 
invested, net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) (note 2 (n)(ii)) and the unwinding of the discount on 
provisions and contingent consideration.  

Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective rate of interest method.  

   

Income tax on the profit or loss for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to 
the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity or in other comprehensive income.  

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Tax relief on the exercise of share options is 
allocated between the income statement and equity in accordance with IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’.  

Deferred tax is calculated using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. This includes deferred tax on share-based payments 
which were granted prior to 7 November 2002 and which have not been exercised. Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising 
on the intangible assets acquired in a business combination. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of 
goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profit and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a 
legally enforceable right of offset within the same taxation authority and where the Group intends to either settle them on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
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(ii) Design services 

(iii) Royalty income and licence income 

  •   The amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 

  •   It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow into the Group; 

  •   The stage of completion of the transaction as at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably; and 

  •   The costs incurred, or to be incurred for the transaction can be measured reliably. 

(s) Expenses 

(i) Operating lease payments 

(ii) Net financing costs 

(t) Income tax 



A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be 
utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realised.  

   

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period. Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of potentially dilutive 
ordinary shares, which comprise share options granted to employees.  

   

An operating segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and 
incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. All operating segments’ 
operating results, at gross profit level, are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer to make decisions regarding resources to 
be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. The Chief Executive Officer 
assesses the performance of the operating segments based on revenue and a measure of gross profit. The gross profit measurement basis 
excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure from operating segments, such as restructuring costs and exceptional inventory write downs. 
Interest income and expenditure are not included in the result for each operating segment that is reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer. Other 
information provided to the Chief Executive Officer is measured in a manner consistent with that in the financial statements.  

The assets and liabilities of the Group are not reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker on a segment basis. Therefore none of the 
Group’s assets and liabilities are segmental assets and segmental liabilities respectively and all are unallocated for segmental disclosure 
purposes. The segment reporting basis is reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer in view of the development of the business.  

   

The following new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued, but are not effective for the fifty-two week period 
ended 29 December 2013 (which began on 31 December 2012) and have not been early adopted by the Group:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

Some of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial assets and 
liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and / or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, 
further information regarding the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements which are 
specific to that asset or liability.  
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(u) Earnings per share 

(v) Segment reporting 

(w) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

  

•   IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ ( issued in 2009), IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ (issued in 2010), and IFRS 9 ‘Financial 
instruments’ (issued in 2013). IFRS 9 (2009) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets 
IFRS 9 (2010) introduces additional changes relating to financial liabilities. IFRS 9 (2013) addresses hedge accounting. IFRS 9 
replaces the parts of IAS39 that relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. The effective date of IFRS 9 
will be determined once the classification and measurement and impairment phases of IFRS9 are finalised by the IASB. 

  

•   ‘Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (amendment to IAS 36)’ issued in May 2013. These amendments 
remove the unintended consequences of IFRS 13 on the disclosures required under IAS 36. In addition, these amendments require 
disclosure of the recoverable amounts for the assets of CGUs for which impairment loss has been recognised or reversed during the 
period. These amendments are effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 with earlier 
application permitted, provided IFRS 13 is also applied. 

  •   ‘Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle’ issued in December 2013. The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with earlier application permitted. 

  •   ‘Annual Improvement to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle’ issued in December 2013. The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with earlier application permitted. 

  •   ‘Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (Amendments to IAS19)’ issued in May 2013. The narrow scope amendments are 
effective from 1 July 2014 with earlier application permitted. 

(x) Determination of fair values 



The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is based on market values at date of 
acquisition.  

   

The fair value of developed technology acquired as a result of a business combination is based on the discounted royalty payments that have 
been avoided as a result of the developed technology being owned. For in-process research and development acquired as a result of a business 
combination, the fair value is estimated based either on the income method taking into account the cash flows post technological feasibility or 
on the cost method, taking into account the estimated current cost to recreate or duplicate the technology. The fair values of licence agreements 
and of customer relationships acquired as a result of a business combination are estimated based on the risk adjusted present value of the 
marginal cash flows derived from the agreements and relationships respectively.  

   

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on their listed market price, if available. If a listed market price is not available, then fair 
value is estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual forward price and the current forward price for the residual maturity of 
the contract using a risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds).  

   

The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at 
the reporting date. No disclosure of the fair value of trade and other receivables is required when the carrying amount is a reasonable 
approximation of fair value.  

   

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal cash flows, discounted at 
the market rate of interest at the reporting date.  

   

The fair value of employee share options is measured using the Black-Scholes model. Measurement inputs include share price on measurement 
date, exercise price of the instrument, weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historical experience and general option 
holder behaviour), expected volatility and the risk free rate (based on government bonds). Service and non-market performance conditions 
attached to the share-based payment transactions are not taken into account in determining fair value.  

The fair value of contingent shares is the market value of the Company’s shares on the date of the award.  

The fair value of performance shares with non-market performance conditions is the market value of the Company’s shares on the date of the 
award. For those performance shares which have market performance conditions attached, the estimated extent to which those performance 
shares are likely to vest are taken into account in determining fair value on the date of the award.  

   

The fair value of short-term deposits is determined based on the market interest rates at the year-end for similar instruments (value and 
maturity) for the short-term deposits held.  

3. Operating segments  

Segment disclosures  

The chief operating decision-maker is the Chief Executive Officer (‘CEO’) of the Company. The Chief Executive Officer reviews the Group’s 
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources. Management has determined the operating segments based on these 
reports.  

The Group has three operating segments which are based on product groups. The Group has two reportable segments which are the Group’s 
Audio Hubs and Discrete and Power Products segments. These are reported separately to the chief operating decision-maker to allow greater 
management focus on the Audio Hubs strategy. The following summary describes the operations in the Group’s reportable segments:  

Audio Hubs – this segment includes the supply and sale of Wolfson’s Audio Hubs high performance audio integrated circuit 
solutions. Audio Hubs are feature-rich devices which contain many of Wolfson’s audio technologies combined into a single Hub 
device.  

Discrete and Power Products – this segment includes the supply and sale of integrated circuits which are discrete components, such 

(i) Property, plant and equipment 

(ii) Intangible assets 

(iii) Derivatives 

(iv) Trade and other receivables 

(v) Non-derivative financial liabilities 

(vi) Share-based payment transactions 

(vii) Short-term deposits 



as : Analogue-to-Digital Converters; Digital-to-Analogue Converters; and this segment also includes those components which are 
power management integrated circuits and the silicon microphone devices based on Micro-Electro-Mechanical Systems (‘MEMS’) 
technology.  
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The other operating segment does not meet any of the quantitative thresholds for determining a reportable segment in the fifty-two week period 
ended 29 December 2013 or in the fifty-two week period ended 30 December 2012 or in financial year 2011 and, accordingly, the relevant 
revenue and segment gross profits are shown as ‘other operating segment’.  

The CEO assesses the performance of the operating segments based on revenue and a measure of gross profit. Segment gross profit is used to 
measure performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of the segment. The gross 
profit measurement basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure from operating segments, such as restructuring costs and 
exceptional inventory write downs. Interest income and expenditure are not included in the result for each operating segment that is reviewed 
by the Chief Executive Officer. Other information provided to the CEO is measured in a manner consistent with that in the financial statements. 
The segment information is prepared using accounting policies consistent with those of the Group as a whole. There were no inter-segment 
transactions in the periods presented.  

The assets and liabilities and capital expenditure of the Group are not reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker on a segment basis. 
Therefore none of the Group’s assets and liabilities are segmental assets and segmental liabilities respectively and all are unallocated for 
segmental disclosure purposes.  

All segments are continuing operations.  
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     2013     2012      2011   

     Rev      
Gross  
Profit     Rev      

Gross  
Profit      Rev      

Gross  
Profit   

     $000      $000     $000      $000      $000      $000   
Audio Hubs       136,371         55,996        134,092         62,518         105,367         52,432    
Discrete and Power Products       42,973         20,065        45,477         21,642         50,851         23,174    
Other Operating Segment       92         (82 )      180         53         694         502    

                                                                 

Total       179,436         75,979        179,749         84,213         156,912         76,108    
         

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

         

  

         

  



Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities and other material items  
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     2013     2012     2011   
     $000     $000     $000   
Revenues         

Total revenue for reportable segments       179,344        179,569        156,218    
Total revenue for other operating segment       92        180        694    

         
  

        
  

        
  

Consolidated revenue       179,436        179,749        156,912    

Profit or loss         
Total gross profit for reportable segments       76,061        84,160        75,606    
Total gross profit for other operating segment       (82 )      53        502    

                               

Gross profit for segments       75,979        84,213        76,108    
Exceptional charge       —          —          (5,900 )  

         
  

        
  

        
  

Gross profit       75,979        84,213        70,208    
Unallocated amounts:         

Corporate overhead expenses       (95,669 )      (92,123 )      (92,718 )  
Other exceptional items       (600 )      (1,400 )      (1,649 )  

                               

Operating loss for the period       (20,290 )      (9,310 )      (24,159 )  
                               

Financial income       95        258        1,576    
Financial expense       (178 )      (271 )      (1,470 )  

                               

Consolidated loss before income tax       (20,373 )      (9,323 )      (24,053 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

     2013     2012     2011   
     $000     $000     $000   
Assets         

Total assets for reportable segments       —          —          —      
Total assets for other operating segment       —          —          —      
Goodwill and acquired intangible assets: Sonaptic       20,637        20,037        19,189    
Goodwill and acquired intangible assets: Oligon       4,024        4,204        4,704    
Goodwill and acquired intangible assets: Dynamic Hearing       4,860        6,040        6,895    
Other unallocated amounts       121,851        150,709        143,727    

                               

Consolidated total assets       151,372        180,990        174,515    

Liabilities         
Total liabilities for reportable segments       —          —          —      
Total liabilities for other operating segment       —          —          —      
Other unallocated amounts       (26,427 )      (41,080 )      (32,731 )  

                               

Consolidated total liabilities       (26,427 )      (41,080 )      (32,731 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  



Other material items 2013  
   

Other material items 2012  
   

Other material items 2011  
   

Geographical information  

The operating segments are managed from the United Kingdom on a worldwide basis, but operate: research and development facilities in the 
United Kingdom, in Japan and in Australia; subcontracted manufacturing operations mainly in South East Asia and in Europe; and sales offices 
in China, Japan, Korea, Taiwan and the United States of America.  

In presenting the consolidated information on a geographical basis, revenue is based on the geographical location of customers. The United 
Kingdom is the place of domicile of the parent company, Wolfson Microelectronics plc. All of the Group’s revenue originates from the United 
Kingdom.  
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Reportable  

segments totals      Adjustments     

Consolidated 
 

totals   
     $000      $000     $000   
Financial income       —           95        95    
Financial expenses       —           (178 )      (178 )  
Capital expenditure       —           7,526        7,526    
Depreciation and amortisation       —           10,126        10,126    
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment       —           1,713        1,713    

     
Reportable  

segments totals      Adjustments     

Consolidated 
 

Totals   
     $000      $000     $000   
Financial income       —           258        258    
Financial expenses       —           (271 )      (271 )  
Capital expenditure       —           5,982        5,982    
Depreciation and amortisation       —           9,499        9,499    

     
Reportable  

segments totals      Adjustments     

Consolidated 
 

totals   
     $000      $000     $000   
Financial income       —           1,576        1,576    
Financial expenses       —           (1,470 )      (1,470 )  
Capital expenditure       —           5,813        5,813    
Depreciation and amortisation       —           13,654        13,654    



Analysis of revenue by destination*:  
   

   

Analysis of revenue by category:  
   

Analysis of non-current assets (excluding deferred tax assets, goodwill and other intangible assets):  
   

Major customer  

Revenues from the largest customer of the Group in 2013, 2012 and 2011, which are included in revenues for the Audio Hubs segment, 
represents approximately $85.2 million, $56.9 million and $24.5 million, respectively, of the Group’s total revenues.  
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52 weeks  
ended  

29 December 
 

2013      

52 weeks  
ended  

30 December 
 

2012      

52 weeks  
ended  

1 January 
 

2012   
     $000      $000      $000   

Japan       19,225         21,972         21,748    
Asia Pacific       53,571         70,895         85,797    
Americas       22,271         28,438         22,362    
United Kingdom       81,901         56,354         25,718    
Europe and rest of world       2,468         2,090         1,287    

                                 

     179,436         179,749         156,912    
         

  

         

  

         

  

* Destination is defined as the location of the direct customer 

     

52 weeks  
ended  

29 December 
 

2013      

52 weeks  
ended  

30 December 
 

2012      

52 weeks  
ended  

1 January 
 

2012   
     $000      $000      $000   
Revenue from:           

Products       176,722         175,664         155,646    
Royalty income and design services       2,714         4,085         1,266    

                                 

     179,436         179,749         156,912    
         

  

         

  

         

  

     

As at  
29 December 

 
2013      

As at  
30 December 

 
2012   

     $000      $000   

Japan       64         102    
Asia Pacific       1,563         4,513    
Americas       14         25    
United Kingdom       18,860         19,500    
Europe and rest of world       —           2    

                      

     20,501         24,142    
         

  

         

  



4. Exceptional items  

Analysis of exceptional items:  
   

Exceptional charge recognised in 52 week period ended 29 December 2013  

Past service cost on defined benefit plan  

In November 2012, the Company initiated an Enhanced Transfer Value (ETV) offer to the 83 deferred members of the Company’s defined 
benefit pension scheme and this offer closed in February 2013. Following the closure of the ETV offer, the actual accounting cost of the ETV 
to be recognised was $2.0 million. Therefore the difference of $0.6 million between this actual accounting cost and the estimated cost of $1.4 
million, recorded in the period ended 30 December 2012 (see below) for those members that decided to take up the offer, has been recognised 
as an exceptional charge in the consolidation income statement in the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013. Further information regarding 
the defined benefit pension scheme is contained in note 19.  

Exceptional charge recognised in 52 week period ended 30 December 2012  

Past service cost on defined benefit plan  

As at 30 December 2012, it was assessed that the ETV offer was likely to result in a cash contribution by the Company into the scheme in the 
first half of 2013, depending on the level of take up of the ETV offer. For accounting purposes, the Company estimated the projected level of 
take up of the ETV offer and recognised an exceptional charge of $1.4 million, in the 52 week period ended 30 December 2012. The charge 
reflected the estimated cost at that time of the ETV compared to the net IAS 19 liability for relevant deferred member of the scheme. Once the 
ETV offer closed the difference between this estimated cost and the actual cost of the ETVs, for those member that decided to take up the offer, 
was recognised in the Group’s 2013 financial statements.  

Exceptional items recognised in 52 week period ended 1 January 2012  

Restructuring costs  

During the 52 week period ended 1 January 2012, a total exceptional charge of $6.978 million was recognised in the consolidated income 
statement in respect of restructuring costs incurred as a result of a programme undertaken in the second half of the financial year to review the 
overhead costs of the business and the refocus of the R&D and Distribution and Selling activity. The total exceptional restructuring cost 
comprised:  

(i) operating expense of $3.478 million, which was mainly employee termination costs (note 22); and  

(ii) an inventory write down of $3.5 million.  
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52 weeks  
ended  

29 December 
 

2013     

52 weeks ended 
 

30 December  
2012     

52 weeks 
ended  

1 January 
 

2012   
     $000     $000     $000   
Costs of sales – inventory write down       —          —          (3,500 )  
Distribution and selling costs       —          —          (1,933 )  
Research and development expenses       —          —          (1,473 )  
Administrative expenses       —          —          (72 )  

                               

Total restructuring costs       —          —          (6,978 )  

Costs of sales – inventory write down       —          —          (2,400 )  
Curtailment gain on defined benefit plan       —          —          1,829    
Past service cost on defined benefit plan       (600 )      (1,400 )      —      

                               

Total exceptional items recognised in the period       (600 )      (1,400 )      (7,549 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  



Exceptional inventory write down  

In the course of the process to realign the Company’s supply chain to better meet the Company’s future product and anticipated demand 
requirements, involving the relocation of certain production support functions to the Far East and a streamlining of the subcontract 
manufacturing supply base, an inventory loss of $2.4 million was identified. This arose as a result of unacceptably low yields at a subcontractor 
from production of a high volume part; the extent of inventory scrapped by the subcontractor during the year had not been properly reported at 
the time.  

Curtailment gain on defined benefit plan  

A $1.8 million non-cash curtailment gain arose on the closure of the defined benefit pension plan to future accrual. The plan closed to future 
accrual with effect from 30 April 2011 and therefore the Company is no longer required to pay contributions in respect of future accrual (note 
19). Due to its size and non-recurring nature, the curtailment gain was reported separately as an exceptional item within the consolidated 
income statement.  

5. Operating expenses  
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52 weeks  
ended  

29 December 
 

2013      

52 weeks  
ended  

30 December 
 

2012     

52 weeks 
ended  

1 January 
 

2012   
     $000      $000     $000   
Operating loss is stated after charging/ (crediting):          
Depreciation (note 11)       3,847         3,945        4,485    
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 12)       6,279         5,554        9,169    
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment (note 11)       1,713         —          —      
Write down / (back) of inventories       3,068         (130 )      4,544    
Severance costs (note 21)       2,395         —          —      
Gain / (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets       35         (13 )      (4 )  
Loss / (gain) on foreign exchange transactions and translation       292         (283 )      219    



6. Personnel expenses  

Average number of employees, including executive directors, by activity:  
   

7. Net financing (expense) / income  
   

8. Income tax credit  

Current tax  

Current tax for the current and prior periods is classified as a current liability to the extent that it is unpaid. Amounts paid in excess of amounts 
owed are classified as a current asset. The Group has a current tax liability of $78,000 at 29 December 2013, $80,000 at 30 December 2012, 
and $116,000 at 1 January 2012. The Company has a current tax asset of $nil at 29 December 2013 and at 30 December 2012 and $67,000 at 
1 January 2012.  
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52 weeks  
ended  

29 December 
 

2013      

52 weeks  
ended  

30 December 
 

2012      

52 weeks 
ended  

1 January 
 

2012   
     (Number)      (Number)      (Number)   

Design and development       292         262         255    
Selling and distribution       105         117         119    
Administration       43         42         41    

                                 

     440         421         415    
         

  

         

  

         

  

     

52 weeks  
ended  

29 December 
 

2013      

52 weeks  
ended  

30 December 
 

2012      

52 weeks 
ended  

1 January 
 

2012   
     $000      $000      $000   

Wages and salaries       40,977         37,331         35,619    
Social security costs       4,691         4,243         4,675    
Contributions to defined contribution pension plans       1,946         1,813         1,922    
Defined benefit pension costs (note 19)       631         1,400         126    
Equity -settled share-based payment transactions (note 19)       1,687         2,676         4,100    

                                 

     49,932         47,463         46,442    
         

  

         

  

         

  

     

52 weeks  
ended  

29 December 
 

2013     

52 weeks  
ended  

30 December 
 

2012     

52 weeks 
ended  

1 January 
 

2012   
     $000     $000     $000   
Bank interest receivable       95        207        240    
Other interest receivable       —          1        1    
Foreign exchange gain       —          35        —      
Interest on defined benefit pension plan assets (note 19)       —          15        1,335    

                               

Financial income       95        258        1,576    
                               

Bank interest payable       (14 )      (18 )      (89 )  
Other interest payable       —          (1 )      (6 )  
Notional interest arising on discounted payables       (115 )      (252 )      (104 )  
Interest on defined benefit pension obligation (note 19)       (49 )      —          (1,271 )  

                               

Financial expenses       (178 )      (271 )      (1,470 )  
                               

Net financing (expense) / income       (83 )      (13 )      106    



Recognised in the income statement:  
   

Current and deferred tax recognised directly in other comprehensive income and in equity  
   

The UK government’s budget for 2013 announced that the UK main rate of corporation tax rate was reduced from 24%, for the tax year ending 
31 March 2013, to 23% for the tax year commencing 1 April 2013, then a reduction to 21% will be effective from 1 April 2014 with further 
reduction to 20% effective from 1 April 2015.  

Deferred tax balances as at 29 December 2013 are recognised at a rate of 20%, 30 December 2012 are recognised at a rate of 23% and 
1 January 2012 are recognised at a rate of 25%.  
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52 weeks  
ended  

29 December 
 

2013     

52 weeks  
ended  

30 December 
 

2012     

52 weeks 
ended  

1 January 
 

2012   
     $000     $000     $000   
Current tax (credit) / expense         
Adjustments for prior years       (153 )      (78 )      (67 )  
Overseas taxes       141        117        250    

                               

     (12 )      39        183    
                               

Deferred tax (credit) / expense         
Origination and reversal of temporary differences       (4,013 )      (3,836 )      (6,842 )  
Research and development expenditure credits       (1,372 )      —          —      
Reduction in tax rate       2,052        849        381    
Adjustments for prior years       (608 )      (320 )      111    

                               

     (3,941 )      (3,307 )      (6,350 )  
         

  
        

  
        

  

Total income tax credit in income statement       (3,953 )      (3,268 )      (6,167 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

     

52 weeks  
ended  

29 December 
 

2013     

52 weeks  
ended  

30 December 
 

2012     

52 weeks 
ended  

1 January 
 

2012   
     $000     $000     $000   
Recognised in other comprehensive income:         
Relating to net pension liability (note 13)       (398 )      (16 )      (1,320 )  

Recognised in equity:         
Relating to equity-settled transactions – deferred tax (note 13)       322        (423 )      2,164    

                               

Decrease / (Increase) in equity       322        (423 )      2,164    
         

  

        

  

        

  



Reconciliation of effective tax rate  
   

9. Earnings per share  
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52 weeks ended  

29 December 2013     
52 weeks ended  

30 December 2012     
52 weeks ended  
1 January 2012   

     %     $ 000     %     $000     %     $000   

Loss before tax         (20,373 )        (9,323 )        (24,053 )  

Income tax credit using the UK corporation tax rate       (23.25 )      (4,737 )      (24.5 )      (2,285 )      (26.5 )      (6,374 )  
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (rate increased)       0.7        141        0.9        83        0.4        99    
Non-deductible expenses       1.3        266        2.3        213        0.7        177    
Research and development tax credits       (1.6 )      (319 )      (12.2 )      (1,140 )      (5.1 )      (1,226 )  
Research and development tax expenditure credits       (5.2 )      (1,053 )      —          —          —          —      
Tax (credit) / expense on share-based payments       1.4        286        (2.1 )      (193 )      3.5        846    
Adjustments relating to prior years       (3.7 )      (761 )      (4.2 )      (398 )      0.2        44    
Tax losses recognised       —          —          (4.5 )      (418 )      (0.4 )      (114 )  
Tax losses not recognised       0.8        172        —          —          —          —      
Reduction in deferred tax rate       10.1        2,052        9.3        870        1.6        381    

                                                             

Total tax credit       (19.4 )      (3,953 )      (35.0 )      (3,268 )      (25.6 )      (6,167 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

     

52 weeks  
ended  

29 December 
 

2013     

52 weeks  
ended  

30 December 
 

2012     

52 weeks 
ended  

1 January 
 

2012   
     $000     $000     $000   
Loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders (basic and 

diluted)       (16,420 )      (6,055 )      (17,886 )  
Share-based payment expenses and related payroll taxes*       1,260        2,500        2,636    
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets*       1,044        1,308        4,031    
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment recognised in 

overheads*       1,315        —          —      
Severance costs recognised in overheads*       1,838        —          —      
Exceptional charge*       462        1,078        5,549    

                               

Underlying loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders 
(basic and diluted)       (10,501 )      (1,169 )      (5,670 )  

         

  

        

  

        

  

     cents     cents     cents   
Basic loss per share       (14.07 )      (5.20 )      (15.39 )  
Diluted loss per share       (14.07 )      (5.20 )      (15.39 )  
Underlying basic loss per share       (9.00 )      (1.00 )      (4.88 )  
Underlying diluted loss per share       (9.00 )      (1.00 )      (4.88 )  

* after the tax impact of this item 



The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted loss per share for each period is calculated as 
follows:  
   

Basic loss per share  

The calculation of basic loss per share for the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013 was based on the loss attributable to equity 
shareholders of $16,420,000. The calculation of basic loss per share for the 52 week period ended 30 December 2012 was based on the loss 
attributable to equity shareholders of $6,055,000. The calculation of basic loss per share for the 52 week period ended 1 January 2012 was 
$17,886,000. The weighted average number of ordinary shares during the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013 was 116,710,153. The 
weighted average number of ordinary shares during the 52 week period ended 30 December 2012 of 116,477,231. The weighted average 
number of ordinary shares during the 52 week period ended 1 January 2012 was 116,198,375.  

Diluted loss per share  

The calculation of diluted loss per share for the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013 was based on the loss attributable to equity 
shareholders of $16,420,000. The calculation of diluted loss per share for the 52 week period ended 30 December 2012 was based on the loss 
attributable to equity shareholders of $6,055,000. The calculation of diluted loss per share for the 52 week period ended 1 January 2012 was 
based on the loss attributable to equity shareholders of $17,886,000. The weighted average number of ordinary shares during the 52 week 
period ended 29 December 2013 of 116,710,153. The weighted average number of ordinary shares during the 52 week period ended 
30 December 2012 of 116,477,231. The weighted average number of ordinary shares during the 52 week period ended 01 January 2012 of 
116,198,375, calculated as shown above.  

The average market value of the Company’s shares for the purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share options was based on quoted 
market prices for the period that the options were outstanding.  

Underlying basic loss per share  

The calculation of underlying basic loss per share for the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013 was based on the loss attributable to equity 
shareholders, before: the amortisation of acquired intangible assets, share-based payment expenses and related payroll taxes, impairment loss 
recognised on property, plant and equipment; severance costs; and the exceptional charge (net of tax effect), of $10,501,000. The calculation of 
underlying basic loss per share for the 52 week period ended 30 December 2012 was based on the loss attributable to equity shareholders, 
before: the exceptional charge, the amortisation of acquired intangible assets and share-based payment expenses and related payroll taxes (net 
of tax effect), of $1,169,000 ( 2011: $5,670,000 loss). The weighted average number of ordinary shares during the 52 week period ended 
29 December 2013 of 116,710,153. The weighted average number of ordinary shares during the 52 week period ended 30 December 2012 of 
116,477,231 (2011 : 116,198,375), calculated as shown above.  

Underlying diluted loss per share  

The calculation of underlying diluted loss per share for the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013 was the same as the calculation for 
underlying basic loss per share for that period, as described above. The calculation of underlying  
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52 weeks  
ended  

29 December  
2013      

52 weeks  
ended  

30 December  
2012      

52 weeks  
ended  

1 January  
2012   

     
No. of  
shares       

No. of  
shares       

No. of  
shares    

Issued ordinary shares at start of period       116,643,442         116,308,427         115,929,217    
Effect of shares issued during the period from exercise of 

employee share options       66,711         168,804         269,158    
                                 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at end of period – for 
basic loss per share and diluted loss per share       116,710,153         116,477,231         116,198,375    

Effect of dilutive share options in issue       671,707         989,619         950,498    
                                 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at end of period – for 
diluted earnings per share       117,381,860         117,466,850         117,148,873    

         

  

         

  

         

  



diluted loss per share for the 52 week period ended 30 December 2012 was the same as the calculation for underlying basic loss per share for 
that period, as described above. The calculation of underlying diluted loss per share for the 52 week period ended 1 January 2012 was the same 
as the calculation for underlying basic loss per share for that period, as described above.  

   

There were no acquisitions or other business combinations undertaken by the Group in the 52 week periods ended 29 December 2013 and 
30 December 2012. During the prior 52 week period ended 1 January 2012, the Group acquired (on 30 September 2011) the entire issued share 
capital of Dynamic Hearing Pty Ltd (‘Dynamic Hearing’). Dynamic Hearing is a provider of high quality audio processing software for 
personal communication devices such as mobile phones, Bluetooth ® headsets and hearing aids. Dynamic Hearing has developed and supplied a 
suite of audio enhancing transmit noise reduction and Acoustic Echo Cancellation (AEC) algorithms to run on Wolfson Microelectronics plc’s 
Audio Hub products.  

Contingent Consideration  

In accordance with the terms of the acquisition, the Group agreed to pay the selling shareholders of Dynamic Hearing additional consideration 
which is contingent on the utilization of pre-acquisition tax losses.  

During 2012 (in the period to 30 September 2012), the Group finalised the assessment of the fair value of the consideration to take into account 
circumstances which existed at the date of acquisition. This resulted in an increase in the fair value of the contingent consideration of $131,000 
so that the total contingent consideration recognised was $262,000. As a result of this increase in the fair value of the contingent consideration, 
there was a corresponding increase in goodwill in 2012 (note 12).  

In the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013, $173,000 of the contingent cash consideration relating to this acquisition was paid and $nil in 
2012. $4.4 million of cash consideration was paid in the period ended 1 January 2012.  
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10. Acquisition of subsidiary in prior period 



11. Property, plant and equipment  
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Land and 
 

buildings      
Plant and 
machinery     

Computer 
 

hardware     

Furniture 
 

& fittings      
Motor  

vehicles     Total   
     $000      $000     $000     $000      $000     $000   
Cost                 
At 2 January 2012       18,882         38,506        9,080        4,007         111        70,586    

Additions       —           931        1,108        179         —          2,218    
Disposals       —           —          —          —           (51 )      (51 )  
Effect of movement in exchange rates       —           —          —          —           3        3    

                                                               

At 30 December 2012       18,882         39,437        10,188        4,186         63        72,756    
         

  
         

  
        

  
        

  
         

  
        

  

At 31 December 2012       18,882         39,437        10,188        4,186         63        72,756    
                                                               

Additions       —           1,066        837        231         —          2,134    
Disposals       —           (758 )      (22 )      —           —          (780 )  

                                                               

At 29 December 2013       18,882         39,745        11,003        4,417         63        74,110    
                                                               

Depreciation                 
At 2 January 2012       2,919         32,444        6,876        2,344         96        44,679    
Charge for period       378         1,748        1,463        350         6        3,945    
Disposals       —           —          —          —           (51 )      (51 )  
Effect of movement in exchange rates       —           —          10        27         4        41    

                                                               

At 30 December 2012       3,297         34,192        8,349        2,721         55        48,614    
                                                               

At 31 December 2012       3,297         34,192        8,349        2,721         55        48,614    
         

  
         

  
        

  
        

  
         

  
        

  

Charge for period       378         2,031        1,089        344         5        3,847    
Impairment loss       —           1,713        —          —           —          1,713    
Disposals       —           (543 )      (22 )      —           —          (565 )  

         
  

         
  

        
  

        
  

         
  

        
  

At 29 December 2013       3,675         37,393        9,416        3,065         60        53,609    
                                                               

Net book value                 
At 3 January 2011       15,963         6,062        2,204        1,663         15        25,907    
At 1 January 2012       15,585         5,245        1,839        1,465         8        24,142    
At 2 January 2012       15,585         5,245        1,839        1,465         8        24,142    
At 30 December 2012       15,207         2,352        1,587        1,352         3        20,501    



12. Intangible assets  
   

Amortisation charge  

The amortisation charge is recognised in the following line items in the consolidated income statement:  
   

Impairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill  

The Group reviews goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.  

For the purposes of this annual review, the directors reviewed the balance of goodwill, in respect of the acquisitions of Oligon Limited and 
Sonaptic Limited in 2007 and Dynamic Hearing in 2011, for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’. No impairment 
charge was considered necessary as a result of this annual impairment review.  

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s operating segment which represents the lowest level within the 
Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.  
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     Goodwill      

In-process  
research &  

development      

Developed 
 

technology      
Licence  

agreements      
Customer  

relationships      

Technology 
 

licences      

Computer 
 

software      Total   
     $000      $000      $000      $000      $000      $000      $000      $000   
Cost                    
At 2 January 2012       24,868         3,572         19,048         6,002         440         1,134         11,810         66,874    
Additions       —           —           —           —           —           726         3,038         3,764    
Revision to deferred consideration       1,226         —           —           —           —           —           —           1,226    

                                                                                        

At 30 December 2012       26,094         3,572         19,048         6,002         440         1,860         14,848         71,864    
                                                                                        

At 31 December 2012       26,094         3,572         19,048         6,002         440         1,860         14,848         71,864    
                                                                                        

Additions       —           —           —           —           —           579         4,813         5,392    
Revision to deferred consideration       600         —           —           —           —           —           —           600    

                                                                                        

At 29 December 2013       26,694         3,572         19,048         6,002         440         2,439         19,661         77,856    
                                                                                        

Amortisation                    
At 2 January 2012       —           1,220         15,966         5,516         440         507         10,301         33,950    
Amortisation for the period       —           585         1,021         127         —           705         3,116         5,554    

                                                                                        

At 30 December 2012       —           1,805         16,987         5,643         440         1,212         13,417         39,504    
                                                                                        

At 31 December 2012       —           1,805         16,987         5,643         440         1,212         13,417         39,504    
                                                                                        

Amortisation for the period       —           514         551         295         —           691         4,228         6,279    
                                                                                        

At 29 December 2013       —           2,319         17,538         5,938         440         1,903         17,645         45,783    
                                                                                        

Net book value                    
At 2 January 2012       24,868         2,352         3,082         486         —           627         1,509         32,924    
At 30 December 2012       26,094         1,767         2,061         359         —           648         1,431         32,360    
At 31 December 2012       26,094         1,767         2,061         359         —           648         1,431         32,360    
At 29 December 2013       26,694         1,253         1,510         64         —           536         2,016         32,073    

     

52 weeks  
ended  

29 December 
 

2013      

52 weeks  
ended  

30 December 
 

2012      

52 weeks 
ended  

1 January 
 

2012   
     $000      $000      $000   

Distribution and selling costs       45         48         17    
Research and development expenses       5,868         5,130         8,744    
Administrative expenses       366         376         408    

                                 

     6,279         5,554         9,169    
         

  

         

  

         

  



The carrying amounts of goodwill, by cash generating unit (‘CGU’), of $26,694,000 as at 29 December 2013 ($26,094,000 as at 30 December 
2012) can be analysed as:  
   

The recoverable amount of each CGU (which reflect the two segments outlined above) is based on value-in-use calculations and this is 
compared to the carrying amount of each CGU to determine whether the respective CGUs require to be impaired. The basis applied has been 
deemed appropriate by the directors as it is consistent with the way in which the value of the individual CGUs is assessed by management and 
would be by other market participants. The method applied is to determine value-in-use by assessing the discounted pre-tax cash flows 
expected to be earned from specific products developed from the acquired technologies within the respective CGUs. As the two identified 
CGUs share many of the same risk factors the directors consider the discount rate applicable to each CGU should be the same.  

These calculations cover five years of projected pre-tax cash flows, which incorporate the approved business plan and current market data 
regarding the relevant technologies. Management determined the financial projections based on its expectations of market developments and 
likely end customer demand over the five year period. The forecast revenues which are included in the projected cash flows are management’s 
current estimates and include identified specific opportunities for the developed products containing the acquired technologies. Industry market 
data, regarding the projected demand for the end product applications containing the relevant technologies, has also been used by management 
to assess the forecast revenues.  

The operating margins included in the projected cash flows reflect those deemed to be achievable in the commercial markets in which the 
products will be sold and have been assessed over the five year period having regard to product lifecycles and expected market demand 
characteristics.  

Cash flows beyond the five year period are extrapolated using a terminal value multiple; terminal value having been estimated by management 
as three times year five cash flows.  

The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 17% ( 2012: 20%) and reflects the risks assessed by the directors as being 
attributable to the relevant CGUs, and takes into account an assessment of relevant risk factors and appropriate external published information.  

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs exceeded the respective carrying values at the time of the impairment test.  

Whilst cash flow projections are subject to inherent uncertainty, with volume estimates dependent to a large extent upon the timing of when 
customers ramp their own production of the relevant consumer products themselves, sensitivity analyses were conducted on the assumptions 
used in estimating the projected pre-tax cash flows. These sensitivities involved reducing the estimated revenues earned over the period of the 
cash flow projections by up to 50%, the results of which indicated that such a significant reduction of the projected cash flows from the 
expected level would not cause the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to fall below the carrying amount. In addition, the effect of a 
change of 5 percentage points in the discount rate applied to the projected cash flows would have no impact on the carrying value of goodwill 
as at 29 December 2013.  

Contingent consideration  

There are contingent cash consideration balances, which are payable in accordance with the terms of these acquisitions and are subject to the 
achievement of certain milestones and conditions, of $3.2 million and $nil within current and non-current liabilities respectively as at 
29 December 2013 ( as at 30 December 2012: $3.2 million and $1.1 million, respectively) . These contingent cash consideration liabilities have 
been assessed based on the probability  
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Analysis of goodwill:    

As at  
29 December 

 
2013      

As at  
30 December 

 
2012   

     $000      $000   

Audio Hubs operating segment (note 3)        
Goodwill relating to Sonaptic acquisition       20,637         20,037    
Goodwill relating to Dynamic Hearing acquisition (note 10)       2,033         2,033    

         
  

         
  

     22,670         22,070    
Discrete and Power Products operating segment (note 3)        
Goodwill relating to Oligon acquisition       4,024         4,024    

         
  

         
  

     26,694         26,094    
         

  

         

  



of their payment as at 29 December 2013 and the amounts have been discounted to their present values. During 2013 the Company paid $1.6 
million ( 2012: $3.2 million and 2011: $0.8 million) in respect of part of the contingent cash consideration for the Sonaptic acquisition as a 
result of achievement of some of the milestones. During 2013 the Company paid $0.2 million (2012: $nil) in respect of the contingent cash 
consideration for the Dynamic Hearing acquisition. Also in 2013, the contingent cash consideration amounts, in respect of the Sonaptic 
acquisition, were reviewed and reassessed and, as a result, the contingent cash consideration liabilities increased by a total of $600,000 with a 
corresponding increase in goodwill (2012: $1,226,000 increase in contingent cash consideration liabilities; 2011: $184,000 reduction ).  

13. Deferred tax assets and liabilities  

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities  
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     Assets     Liabilities     Net   
     2013     2012     2013     2012     2013     2012   
     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000   

Property, plant and equipment       (30 )      (37 )      717        1,382        687        1,345    
Intangible assets       (607 )      (753 )      566        963        (41 )      210    
Employee benefits - pensions       (780 )      (385 )      —          —          (780 )      (385 )  
Employee benefits – share-based payments       (892 )      (1,458 )      —          —          (892 )      (1,458 )  
Tax losses       (14,493 )      (12,299 )      —          —          (14,493 )      (12,299 )  
Other items       (1,884 )      (844 )        45        (1,884 )      (799 )  

                                                             

Deferred tax (assets) / liabilities       (18,686 )      (15,776 )      1,283        2,390        (17,403 )      (13,386 )  
Set off of tax       1,283        2,390        (1,283 )      (2,390 )      —          —      

                                                             

Net deferred tax assets       (17,403 )      (13,386 )      —          —          (17,403 )      (13,386 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  



Movement in deferred tax balances during the period  
   

Unrecognised deferred tax assets  

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:  
   

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the tax amount of these items due to continuing uncertainty over the availability of 
future taxable profits against which the Group can utilise the benefit.  
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Balance at  
2 January  

2012     

Recognised 
 

in profit or 
 

loss     

Recognised in 
other  

comprehensive 
 

income     

Recognised 
 

in equity     

Balance at  
30 December 

 
2012   

     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000   
Property, plant and equipment       1,102        243        —          —          1,345    
Intangible assets       1,204        (994 )      —          —          210    
Employee benefits – pensions       (375 )      6        (16 )      —          (385 )  
Employee benefits – share based payments       (1,166 )      131        —          (423 )      (1,458 )  
Tax losses       (9,644 )      (2,655 )      —          —          (12,299 )  
Other items       (761 )      (38 )      —          —          (799 )  

                                                   

     (9,640 )      (3,307 )      (16 )      (423 )      (13,386 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

     

Balance at  
31 December 

 
2012     

Recognised 
 

in profit or 
 

loss     

Recognised in 
other  

comprehensive 
 

income     

Recognised 
 

in equity     

Balance at  
29 December 

 
2013   

     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000   
Property, plant and equipment       1,345        (658 )      —          —          687    
Intangible assets       210        (251 )      —          —          (41 )  
Employee benefits – pensions       (385 )      3        (398 )      —          (780 )  
Employee benefits – share based payments       (1,458 )      244        —          322        (892 )  
Tax losses       (12,299 )      (2,194 )      —          —          (14,493 )  
Other items       (799 )      (1,085 )      —          —          (1,884 )  

                                                   

     (13,386 )      (3,941 )      (398 )      322        (17,403 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

     2013      2012      2011   
     $000      $000      $000   

Tax losses       1,756         1,700         2,224    



14. Inventories  
   

In the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013 raw materials and consumables and changes in finished goods and work in progress recognised 
as cost of sales amounted to $103,949,000 ( 52 week period ended 30 December 2012: $95,035,000).  

15. Trade and other receivables  
   

The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade and other receivables are disclosed in note 22.  

16. Other investments  
   

The Group’s exposure to currency risks related to other investments are disclosed in note 22.  

17. Cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits  
   

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 22.  
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     2013      2012   
     $000      $000   

Raw materials and consumables       5,883         9,282    
Work in progress       3,295         4,641    
Finished goods       15,043         10,779    

                      

     24,221         24,702    
         

  

         

  

     2013      2012   
     $000      $000   

Trade receivables       25,467         33,949    
Other receivables       798         718    
Prepayments and accrued income       2,634         3,138    

                      

     28,899         37,805    
         

  

         

  

     2013      2012   
     $000      $000   
Current investments        
Derivatives used for hedging       2,389         621    

     2013      2012   
     $000      $000   

Bank balances       3,687         1,816    
Bank deposits       22,199         18,158    

                      

Cash and cash equivalents       25,886         19,974    
                      

Short-term deposits       —           28,000    



18. Capital and reserves  

Share capital and share premium  
   

The Company’s share capital comprises ordinary shares which have a nominal value of 0.1 pence per share. All issued shares are fully paid.  

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company and are entitled to receive dividends as 
recommended by the directors. The holders of ordinary shares also have an unlimited right to share in the surplus remaining on a winding up 
after all creditors are satisfied.  

During the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013, 136,991 ordinary shares of 0.1 pence (2012: 335,015 ordinary shares), which had an 
aggregate nominal value of £137 ($215) (2012: £335 ($540)), were issued for a total consideration of £113,235 ($177,000) (2012: £349,555 
($555,000)).  

The Company did not purchase any of its own ordinary shares of 0.1 pence each in the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013 nor in the 52 
week period ended 30 December 2012 nor in the 52 week periods ended 1 January 2012.  

During the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013, the Company’s employee share trusts, acquired 754 ( 2012: 1,981 ) of the Company’s 
shares for a consideration of $2,000 ( 2012: 7,000) . There were 2,392,522 of the Company’s ordinary shares held by the Company’s employee 
share trusts as at 29 December 2013 ( as at 30 December 2012: 2 ,938,837 ordinary shares).  

Options  

The Company’s directors, senior management and employees have been granted options over ordinary shares under employee share option 
schemes as follows:  
   

Retained earnings reserve  

The movements in this reserve for the Group, in the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013, are shown in the statements of changes in 
equity.  

The cumulative foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations in the Group was $15,000 loss as at 29 December 2013 (as at 
30 December 2012: $10,000 loss) and is included within the retained earnings reserve.  

Capital redemption reserve  

The balance on this reserve as at 1 January 2012 represented an amount equal to the nominal value of deferred shares which were bought back 
by the Company in earlier years. These deferred shares were then cancelled.  
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As at  

29 December 2013      
As at  

30 December 2012      
As at  

1 January 2012   

     
Number of  

shares       
Number of  

shares       
Number of  

shares   

In issue at start of period       116,643,442         116,308,427         115,929,217    
Issued for cash on exercise of employee share options       136,991         335,015         379,210    

         
  

         
  

         
  

In issue at end of period– fully paid       116,780,433         116,643,442         116,308,427    
         

  

         

  

         

  

     

At  
31 December 

 
2012      Exercised     Granted      Lapsed     

At  
29 December 

 
2013   

2003 Executive Share Scheme – A       147,339         (16,304 )      —           (34,379 )      96,656    
2003 Executive Share Scheme – B       1,215,875         (79,890 )      —           (748,814 )      387,171    
2003 All Employee Share Scheme – A       827,186         (6,875 )      —           (74,583 )      745,728    
2003 All Employee Share Scheme – B       965,484         —          —           (93,445 )      872,039    
2010 Save As You Earn (SAYE) Scheme       1,215,916         (17,257 )      394,447         (136,150 )      1,456,956    

                                                     

     4,371,800         (120,326 )      394,447         (1,087,371 )      3,558,550    
         

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

        

  



There were no movements in this reserve during the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013 nor in the 52 week period ended 30 December 
2012.  

Hedging reserve  

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related to 
hedged transactions which have not yet occurred (note 22).  

The amount of the recycled cash flow hedges recognised in the income statement is a loss of $711,000 in the 52 week period ended 
29 December 2013 ( 2012:$ 955 ,000 gain).  

19. Employee benefits  

Retirement Benefits Schemes  

Defined benefit pension scheme  

The Group sponsors and makes actuarial deficit repair contributions to a UK-based defined benefit plan (“Plan”) that provides pension benefits 
for UK employees upon retirement. The level of retirement benefit is principally based on salary earned in the last three years of employment 
prior to leaving active service and is linked to changes in inflation up to retirement. The Plan closed to future accrual with effect from 30 April 
2011.  

The defined benefit pension plan is trustee administered fund, that is legally separated from the Group, which holds the pension plan assets to 
meet long term pension liabilities. The pension fund trustees comprise one employee and one employer representative and an independent 
chairman. The trustees are required by law to act in the best interests of the Plan’s beneficiaries and the trustees are responsible, in consultation 
with the Group, for setting certain policies (including the investment policies) of the fund.  

This defined benefit pension plan exposes the Group to actuarial risks such as investment (market) risk, interest rate risk, mortality risk, 
longevity risk and currency risk. The defined benefit plan and actuarial assumptions are based on sterling denominated assets and liabilities. A 
decrease in corporate bond yields, a rise in inflation or an increase in life expectancy would result in an increase to the plan liabilities. This 
would adversely impact the balance sheet position and may give rise to increased charges in future periods’ income statements of the Group. 
The effect would be partially offset by an increase in the value of the Plan’s corporate bond holdings. In addition, caps on inflationary increases 
are in place to protect the Plan against extreme inflation. A summary of the sensitivity to the principal assumptions of the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation of the Plan is contained herein.  

Funding  

The defined benefit pension scheme is fully funded by the Group. The Plan is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 
2004. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Guidance Notes adopted by the Financial Reporting Council, set out 
the framework for funding defined benefit occupational pension plans in the UK. The funding of the Plan is based on a separate actuarial 
valuation for funding purposes for which the assumptions may differ from the assumptions noted herein. The latest full actuarial valuation was 
carried out at 29 February 2012, by a qualified independent actuary, in accordance with the scheme funding requirements of the Pensions Act 
2004 and the funding of the Plan is agreed between the Group and the trustees in line with those requirements. In particular, these require the 
surplus / deficit to be calculated using prudent, as opposed to best estimate, actuarial assumptions. The Plan was closed to new entrants with 
effect from 2 July 2002. The Plan closed to future accrual with effect from 30 April 2011 and therefore the Group is no longer required to pay 
contributions in respect of future accrual.  

The triennial actuarial valuation as at 29 February 2012 showed a deficit of £2.5 million. Following the completion of the triennial actuarial 
valuation of the Plan in 2013, a revised schedule of contributions, dated 24 May 2013 was put in place. Under this revised schedule, the Group 
will pay deficit contributions of £1.0 million ($1.65 million approximately) by 30 April 2014, £1.0 million ($1.65 million approximately) by 
30 April 2015 and £0.4 million ($0.6 million approximately) by 30 April 2016. During the 52 week period ended 30 December 2012 and the 52 
week period ended 29 December 2013, the Group did not pay any deficit contributions into the Plan as none were due to be paid in that period 
but the Group paid $2.1 million into the Plan in 2013 in respect of the Enhanced Transfer Value offer, as explained below.  

The Group and the Trustees of the Plan have agreed on an outline funding policy which will aim to eliminate £1 million of buyout deficit every 
year, either by means of liability reduction measures, contributions, or both. The Group is targeting to completely close the scheme over the 
next ten years through a combination of liability reduction exercises, such as buy ins, buy outs and enhanced transfer values, all of which will 
likely cost more than the IAS 19 funded obligations assume. The Group will pay around $1.65 million in contributions to this Plan in 2014.  
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Net surplus / (liability) for defined benefit obligations  
   

For the purposes of IAS 19, the full actuarial valuation as at 29 February 2012 has been updated on an approximate basis to 29 December 2013 
by a qualified actuary, independent of the Company. The major assumptions used by the actuary are shown herein. The defined benefit plan 
and actuarial assumptions are based on sterling denominated assets and liabilities. There have been no changes in the valuation methodology 
adopted for this period’s disclosures compared to the comparative period’s disclosures. No allowance has been made for gains and losses from 
members movements but the impact of the de-risking exercises described below has been calculated at a member-by-member level.  

The present value of the Plan liabilities is measured by discounting the best estimate of future cash flows to be paid out by the Plan using the 
projected unit credit method.  

Since the defined benefit pension scheme is closed to future accrual and since there will no longer be regular contributions to the scheme, there 
is some uncertainty regarding the recoverability of the net asset, being the IAS 19 net surplus on the scheme as at 29 December 2013. 
Accordingly the surplus of $2.2 million on the defined benefit pension scheme as at 29 December 2013, calculated in accordance with IAS 19 
(as revised in 2011), has not been recognised. The total amount due under the current schedule of contributions is approximately $3.9 million 
as at 29 December 2013. In accordance with IFRIC 14, the present value of this remaining commitment (being $3.9 million) was recognised as 
a liability as at 29 December 2013. There was a similar commitment at 30 December 2012 in respect of the schedule of contributions in place at 
that date.  

Enhanced Transfer Value offer  

In November 2012, the Company initiated an Enhanced Transfer Value (ETV) offer to the 83 deferred members of the scheme at that time and 
this offer closed in February 2013. Details of the accounting treatment of this ETV offer are contained in note 4. During 2013, the Company 
paid $2.1 million into the defined benefit pension scheme in respect of the ETV offers which were accepted by some of the deferred members 
of this pension scheme. The total past service cost (of $2.0 million) recognised in the consolidated income statement of the Group in 2013 ($0.6 
million) and in 2012 ($1.4 million) in respect of the ETV offer reflects the cost, over and above the value of the IAS 19 liabilities, of settling 
the benefits. The impact of the accepted offers was to reduce the scheme assets and obligations by approximately $11 million, or approximately 
one third, thereby reducing the buyout deficit by around $4.5 million.  
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At  
29 December 

 
2013     

At  
30 December 

 
2012   

     $000     $000   
Present value of funded obligations       (22,662 )      (31,142 )  
Fair value of plan assets       24,898        30,966    

                     

Net surplus / (liability) for defined benefit obligations       2,236        (176 )  
Unrecognised surplus       (2,236 )       —      

Increase in liabilities recognised in accordance with IFRIC 14       (3,900 )      (1,500 )  
                     

Recognised liability for defined benefit obligations       (3,900 )      (1,676 )  
         

  

        

  



Movements in the net (liability) / surplus for defined benefit obligations  
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Defined benefit  

obligation     
Fair value of plan  

assets     

Net defined  
benefit (liability) /  

surplus   
    2013     2012     2013     2012     2013     2012   
    $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000   

Balance at start of period      (31,142 )      (26,413 )      30,966        26,714        (176 )      301    
                                                            

Included in profit or loss              
Current service cost (note 6)      (31 )      —          —          —          (31 )      —      
Past service cost (note 4)      (600 )      —          —          —          (600 )      —      
Interest (cost) / income (note 7)      (1,043 )      (1,258 )      994        1,273        (49 )      15    
Exchange differences      (794 )      (1,152 )      702        1,164        (92 )      12    

                                                            

    (2,468 )      (2,410 )      1,696        2,437        (772 )      27    
                                                            

Included in other comprehensive income              
Remeasurements gain / (loss):              

Actuarial gain / (loss) due to scheme experience      193        (318 )      —          —          193        (318 )  
Actuarial gain / (loss) due to changes in demographic assumptions      183        373        —          —          183        373    
Actuarial gain / (loss) due to changes in financial assumptions      701        (2,374 )      —          —          701        (2,374 )  
Return on plan assets excluding interest income      —          —          1,326        1,815        1,326        1,815    

                                                            

    1,077        (2,319 )      1,326        1,815        2,403        (504 )  
                                                            

Other              
Contributions by the employer      —          —          2,181        —          2,181        —      
Benefits paid and expenses      11,271        —          (11,271 )      —          —          —      
Release of accrual (recognised in 2012) for past service costs      (1,400 )      —          —          —          (1,400 )      —      

                                                            

Balance at end of period      (22,662 )      (31,142 )      24,898        30,966        2,236        (176 )  
                                                            

Unrecognised surplus      (2,236 )      —          —          —          (2,236 )      —      
Increase in liabilities recognised in accordance with IFRIC 14      (3,900 )      (1,500 )      —          —          (3,900 )      (1,500 )  

                                                            

Liability for defined benefit obligations at end of period      (28,798 )      (32,642 )      24,898        30,966        (3,900 )      (1,676 )  
                                                            



The (expense) / gain is recognised in the following line items in the income statement:  
   

Actuarial gains and losses recognised directly in equity  
   

Plan assets  
   

None of the Plan assets include any of the Group’s own financial instruments or any property occupied by, or other assets used by the Group. 
All of the Plan assets have quoted market prices in active markets with the exception of the Plan’s bank account balance.  

It is the policy of the Trustees and the Group to review the investment strategy at the time of each funding valuation. The Trustees’ investment 
objectives and the processes undertaken to measure and manage the risks inherent in the Plan investment strategy are illustrated by the asset 
allocation as at 29 December 2013. There are no explicit asset-liability matching strategies currently being used by the Plan apart from the Plan 
holding corporate bonds which will, to some extent, vary in line with the liabilities.  
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52 weeks ended 
 

29 December  
2013     

52 weeks ended 
 

30 December  
2012   

    $000     $000   
Current and past service costs:      
Distribution and selling costs      (6 )      —      
Research and development expenses      (18 )      —      
Administrative expenses      (7 )      —      
Exceptional charge for past service costs (note 4)      (600 )      (1,400 )  

                    

Total current and past service costs (note 6)      (631 )      (1,400 )  
        

  

        

  

Exchange differences (expense) / gain:      
Distribution and selling costs      (19 )      2    
Research and development expenses      (52 )      7    
Administrative expenses      (21 )      3    

        

  

        

  

Total exchange differences (expense) / gain:      (92 )      12    
        

  

        

  

Financial income (note 7)      —          15    
Financial expense (note 7)      (49 )      —      

        

  

        

  

    

52 weeks ended 
 

29 December  
2013     

52 weeks ended 
 

30 December  
2012   

    $000     $000   
Cumulative amount of actuarial losses at beginning of period      13,929        13,425    
Recognised (gain) / loss during the period      (2,403 )      504    

        
  

        
  

Cumulative amount of actuarial and other losses at end of period      11,526        13,929    
        

  

        

  

Plan assets consist of the following:   

As at  
29 December 

 
2013     

As at  
30 December 

 
2012   

    $000     $000   
UK equity securities      2,848        2,169    
Overseas equity securities      5,526        4,188    
Government bonds      —          —      
Corporate bonds      10,708        16,107    
Cash      3        3,092    
Other assets – diversified growth fund      5,813        5,410    

                    

    24,898        30,966    
        

  

        

  

Actual return on plan assets      2,320        3,088    
        

  

        

  



Defined benefit obligations  

Actuarial assumptions  

The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date were:  
   

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and mortality tables. The calculation of the defined benefit obligation 
is sensitive to the mortality assumptions set out above and in the following table. The current longevities underlying the values of the liabilities 
in the defined benefit plan are as follows:  
   

At 29 December 2013, the weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 24 years ( 2012: 24 years ).  
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    2013     2012   

Discount rate at 29 December 2013 / 30 December 2012      4.60 %      4.30 %  
Future salary increases      n/a        n/a    
Future pension increases      3.40 %      3.00 %  
Inflation assumption : RPI      3.60 %      3.10 %  
Inflation assumption : CPI      2.70 %      2.40 %  
Mortality table : Non-pensioners  

  

  
 
  
 
  
 
  

SAPS, Birth Year, 
 

CMI 2013, 1.5%  
p.a. long-term  
improvement  

    
    
    
      

  
 
  
 
  
 
  

SAPS, Birth Year, 
 

CMI 2009, 1.5%  
p.a. long-term  
improvement  

    
    
    
    

Mortality table : Pensioners  

  

  
 
  
 
  
 
  
 
  

SAPS Light, Birth 
 

Year,  
CMI 2013, 1.5%  
p.a. long-term  
improvement  

    
    
    
    
      

  
 
  
 
  
 
  
 
  

SAPS Light, Birth 
 

Year,  
CMI 2009, 1.5%  
p.a. long-term  
improvement  

    
    
    
    
    

    

As at  
29 December 

 
2013     

As at  
30 December 

 
2012   

    (Years)     (Years)   
Life expectancy at retirement for current pensioners      

Males      24.1        24.3    
Females      25.4        25.3    

Life expectancy at retirement for current member aged 45      
Males      24.6        24.8    
Females      27.0        27.0    



Sensitivity analysis  

Changes, which are reasonably possible at 29 December 2013, to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, 
would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the approximate amounts shown below. The inflation sensitivity includes the impact of 
changes to the assumptions for revaluation and pension increases.  
   

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the Plan, it does provide an approximation of 
the sensitivity of assumptions shown.  

Historical information  
   

Share-based payments  

At 29 December 2013, the Group and the Company had the following share-based payment arrangements:  

Share option plans  

In the years prior to 2008, the Group had a share option programme that entitled directors, senior management and other employees to purchase 
shares in the Company. Grants have been made of share options in the period from 1995 to June 2008 and then to directors and senior 
management (only in relation to long term incentive scheme arrangements) in 2009 and 2010. In accordance with those share option schemes, 
options are exercisable at the market price of the shares at the date of grant. Additionally, there were 28 separate grants of share options to 
employees before 7 November 2002. The recognition and measurement principles in IFRS 2 have not been applied to these grants in 
accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 1 and IFRS 2. During the financial years 2011, 2012 and 2013, no market value share 
options were granted to executive directors and senior management as part of the long term incentive scheme arrangements as contingent share 
awards or contingent nil cost options were granted in respect of the long term incentive scheme arrangements in those years.  
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As at 29 December 2013   

Effect on defined benefit  
obligation: (increase) / reduction  

in obligation   

    
Increase in  
assumption     

Decrease in  
assumption   

    $000     $000   
Discount rate (effect of 0.1 % movement)      506        (520 )  
Future pension increases (effect of 0.1% movement)      (295 )      288    
Inflation (effect of 0.1% movement)      (295 )      288    
Future mortality (effect of 1 year change in life expectancy)      (616 )      614    

    

As at  
29 December 

 
2013     

As at  
30 December 

 
2012     

As at  
1 January 

2012     

As at  
2 January 

2011     

As at  
3 January 

2010     

As at  
28 December 

 
2008   

    $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000   

Present value of defined benefit obligations      (22,662 )      (31,142 )      (26,413 )      (24,244 )      (22,191 )      (14,382 )  
Fair value of plan assets      24,898        30,966        26,714        21,843        19,908        13,035    

                                                            

Net surplus / (deficit) in the plan      2,236        (176 )      301        (2,401 )      (2,283 )      (1,347 )  
Unrecognised surplus      (2,236 )      —          (301 )      —          —          —      
Increase in liabilities recognised in accordance with IFRIC 14      (3,900 )      (1,500 )      (1,500 )      —          —          —      
Recognised liability for defined benefit obligations      (3,900 )      (1,676 )      (1,500 )      (2,401 )      (2,283 )      (1,347 )  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

    2013     2012     2011     2010     2009     2008   
    $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000   
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities      1,077        (310 )      (64 )      (105 )      (323 )      788    
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets      1,326        2,023        (604 )      1,226        2,241        (5,221 )  



In the years 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013 share option awards were granted to UK employees from the Approved Save As You Earn share option 
scheme.  

The table in note 18 summarises the share options, by scheme, granted, exercised and lapsed in the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013.  

The 2003 Wolfson Microelectronics plc Executive Share Scheme (Part A and Part B)  

This share option scheme has two parts: one which is approved by HM Revenue and Customs so as to provide tax qualified options (Part A) 
and the other not so approved (Part B). From September 2013, options can no longer be granted from this scheme as it reached the end of its 10 
year life. Options under this scheme were only granted to executive directors and senior management and are subject to performance 
conditions. Options could only be granted from this scheme at an exercise price which was not less than the market value of the Company’s 
ordinary 0.1 pence shares at the time of grant. No consideration was payable for awards from this scheme. The fair value of share options 
granted from this scheme is measured based on a Black-Scholes model. In 2010 and in previous years, share option grants were made from this 
scheme to the executive directors and to senior managers as part of the long term incentive arrangements. No share options were granted from 
this scheme in 2011, 2012 and 2013. The share option awards granted in 2010 have non-market related performance conditions and therefore 
the likelihood of vesting has been taken into account when determining the relevant charge. Vesting assumptions are reviewed during each 
reporting period to ensure they reflect current expectations.  

The 2013 Wolfson Microelectronics plc Approved Share Option Scheme  

The 2013 Wolfson Microelectronics plc Unapproved Share Option Scheme  

These share option schemes, which replace the 2003 Wolfson Microelectronics plc Executive Share Scheme (Parts A and B) and the similar 
2003 Wolfson Microelectronics plc Employee Share Scheme (Parts A and B) were approved by shareholders at the Company’s Annual General 
Meeting in April 2013. No awards have been granted from these share option schemes.  

The Wolfson Microelectronics Approved SAYE Scheme  

This is a savings-related share option scheme which was established in 2010 and was approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting 
in May 2010 and then by HM Revenue and Customs. The scheme is currently open to all eligible employees in the United Kingdom and 
provides for the grant of share options linked to savings contracts lasting for three or five years. The share options can be granted at a discount 
of up to 20% of the market value of an ordinary share in the Company. The number of shares over which options are granted is related to the 
amount of savings made by the employee under the savings contract. In the financial year 2013, as in 2012, 2011 and 2010, the invitation to 
participate in the SAYE Scheme was in respect of a savings contract period of three years with options granted at a discount of 20% to the 
market value of an ordinary share in the Company. The fair value of share options granted from this scheme is measured based on a Black-
Scholes model and takes into account an estimate of the extent to which a non-vesting condition will fail to be met by the participants during 
the savings contract period.  

Other share-based award plans  

The Wolfson Microelectronics 2006 Performance Share Plan  

This long term incentive plan was approved by shareholders, at an Extraordinary General Meeting on 16 February 2006. The first grant of 
contingent share awards was made on 10 March 2006 to executive directors and senior management as part of a long term incentive plan and 
further awards were made to senior management in September and October 2006. During 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011, further grants of 
contingent share awards were made to executive directors and senior management as part of the long term incentive arrangements. In 2012 and 
2013, contingent nil cost option awards were granted to executive directors and senior management in respect of the long term incentive 
arrangements. No consideration was paid for any of these awards. The fair value is determined by reference to the market value of the shares at 
the date of grant. The contingent share awards and the contingent nil cost option awards granted in the financial years 2011, 2012 and 2013 
respectively have non-market related vesting conditions and therefore the likelihood of vesting has been taken into account when determining 
the relevant charge. Vesting assumptions are reviewed during each reporting period to ensure they reflect current expectations.  
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The Wolfson Microelectronics 2010 Senior Executive Deferred Bonus Plan  

This deferred bonus plan was approved by shareholders at the Company’s Annual General Meeting in May 2010 and the first awards were 
granted under this Plan on 29 June 2010. Participation in this Plan in 2010, 2011, 2012 and in 2013 by the executive directors and senior 
managers was not compulsory. For 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013, up to 50% of the net (after tax) bonus earned in 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012 
respectively, by those executive directors and senior managers who elected to participate in the Plan, was applied in the acquisition of shares in 
the Company. If those shares are held for three years, the Company will match them 1:1 on a gross basis subject to the achievement of a 
specified non-market related performance condition. The fair value of the contingent matching share awards is determined by reference to the 
market value of the shares at the date of grant. The contingent matching share awards granted in 2012, 2011 and 2010 have non-market related 
vesting conditions and therefore the likelihood of vesting has been taken into account when determining the relevant charge. Vesting 
assumptions are reviewed during each reporting period to ensure they reflect current expectations. No contingent matching share awards were 
issued under this Plan in 2013 as none of the executive directors and none of the senior managers chose to participate to this Plan in 2013.  

The Wolfson Microelectronics 2009 Staff Share Award Plan  

In 2009 the Company established this employee share scheme (formerly named The Wolfson Microelectronics 2009 Staff Performance Share 
Plan) which allows the grant of contingent share awards to employees (excluding directors), the vesting of those shares being dependent on the 
individual remaining an employee of the Group throughout the specified period. This scheme was approved by the shareholders of the 
Company at the Annual General Meeting in May 2010. Awards from this scheme prior to May 2010 can only be satisfied from shares held in 
the employee share trusts, which have been purchased in the market, rather than by new issue shares. In accordance with this share scheme, no 
amounts are payable by the employees in respect of the grant of these contingent share awards. The Company issued contingent share awards 
from this scheme to employees during 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013.  

The fair value of the contingent share awards is determined by reference to the market value of the shares at the date of grant. The contingent 
share awards have non-market related vesting conditions and therefore the likelihood of vesting has been taken into account when determining 
the relevant charge. Vesting assumptions are reviewed during each reporting period to ensure they reflect current expectations.  

For the awards made in 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013, the contingent share awards will vest in three equal tranches on each anniversary of 
the grant date over a 3 year period such that the third tranche vests on the date 3 years after the date of award subject to the award holder 
remaining an employee within the Group throughout that vesting period unless the award holder leaves employment within the Group as a 
result of one of the specified circumstances defined in the rules of the Scheme.  

The Wolfson Microelectronics 2008 Staff Performance Share Plan  

In 2008 the Company established a staff share scheme, The Wolfson Microelectronics 2008 Staff Performance Share Plan, which allows the 
grant of contingent share awards to employees, the vesting of those shares being dependent on the individual remaining an employee of the 
Group throughout the specified period. Awards from this scheme can only be satisfied from shares held in the employee share trusts, which 
have been purchased in the market, rather than by new issue shares. No amounts are payable by the employees in respect of the grant of these 
contingent share awards. The Company issued contingent share awards from this scheme to employees during 2008 and also to specific 
employees in 2013. No awards were granted from this scheme in the period from 2009 to 2012.  

The fair value of contingent share awards from this Plan is determined by reference to the market value of the shares at the date of grant. The 
contingent share awards have non-market related vesting conditions and therefore the likelihood of vesting has been taken into account when 
determining the relevant charge. Vesting assumptions are reviewed during each reporting period to ensure they reflect current expectations. For 
the awards made in 2013, the contingent share awards vest on the date three years after the date of grant, subject to the award holder having 
remained an employee within the Group throughout that period unless the award holder leaves employment within the Group as a result of one 
of the specified circumstances defined in the rules of the Scheme.  
   

45  



Share option plans  

The terms and conditions of the share option grants which were outstanding at any time during the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013 
are as follows, whereby all options are settled by the physical delivery of shares:  
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    Grant date / employees entitled    
Number of 

options    Vesting conditions    
Contractual 

life of options 

1.   Option grant to employees at 30 July 2004    232,885    Four years of service*    10 years 
2. 

  

Option grant to directors and senior management at 30 
July 2004 

   

119,805 

   

Employed during vesting period and increase of RPI 
plus 15% per annum in EPS in 2006 over EPS in 2003 

(there was a sliding scale for lower performance)    

10 years 

3.   Option grant to employees at 10 March 2005    160,335    Four years of service*    10 years 
4. 

  

Option grant to directors and senior management at 10 
March 2005 

   

114,719 

   

Three years of service and increase of RPI plus 15% 
per annum in EPS in 2007 over EPS in 2004 (there 

was a sliding scale for lower performance)    

10 years 

5.   Option grant to employees at 10 March 2005    5,000    Four years of service*    10 years 
6.   Option grant to employees at 7 September 2005    20,000    Four years of service*    10 years 
7.   Option grant to employees at 16 March 2006    318,250    Four years of service*    10 years 
8.   Option grant to employees at 2 May 2006    9,000    Four years of service*    10 years 
9.   Option grant to employees at 24 August 2006    155,000    Four years of service*    10 years 
10.   Option grant to employees at 25 September 2006    30,000    Four years of service*    10 years 
11.   Option grant to employees at 26 October 2006    2,000    Four years of service*    10 years 
12.   Option grant to employees at 27 November 2006    15,000    Four years of service*    10 years 
13.   Option grant to employees at 5 February 2007    26,000    Three years of service**    10 years 
14.   Option grant to employees at 5 February 2007    453,775    Three years of service**    10 years 
15. 

  

Option grant to employees at 5 February 2007 

   

292,950 

   

Employed during vesting period of one year and to the 
extent that specific business performance objectives 

are achieved in the financial year 2007    

10 years 

16.   Option grant to employees at 5 February 2007    3,983    Three years of service**    10 years 
17. 

  

Option grant to employees at 5 February 2007 

   

3,080 

   

Employed during vesting period of one year and to the 
extent that specific business performance objectives 

are achieved in the financial year 2007    

10 years 

18.   Option grant to employees at 6 August 2007    10,000    Three years of service**    10 years 
19.   Option grant to employees at 5 September 2007    9,400    Three years of service**    10 years 
20.   Option grant to employees at 7 November 2007    10,000    Three years of service**    10 years 
21.   Option grant to employees at 5 December 2007    10,000    Three years of service**    10 years 
22.   Option grant to employees at 6 March 2008    17,000    Three years of service**    10 years 
23.   Option grant to employees at 9 June 2008    5,000    Three years of service**    10 years 
24. 

  

Option grant to executive directors and senior 
management at 19 March 2009 

   

419,995 

   

Employed during the three year performance period. 
Performance conditions were a share price 

appreciation target and cash conservation (each 
measure having 50% weighting).    

10 years 

25. 

  

Option grant to senior management at 2 September 2009 

   

10,638 

   

Employed during the three year performance period. 
Performance conditions were a share price 

appreciation target and cash conservation (each 
measure having 50% weighting).    

10 years 

26. 
  

Option grant to executive directors and senior 
management at 19 March 2010    

698,057 
   

Employed during the three year performance period. 
Performance conditions were non-market related.    

10 years 

27.   Option grant to employees at 19 March 2010    4,012    Three years of service**    10 years 



   

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:  
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28. 

  

Option grant to executive directors, senior management 
and employees at 1 September 2010 

   

191,956 

   

Three years of service and subject to a three year 
Sharesave savings contract in accordance with the 

approved SAYE scheme    

3.5 years 

29. 

  

Option grant to senior management and employees at 30 
November 2011 

   

887,960 

   

Three years of service and subject to a three year 
Sharesave savings contract in accordance with the 

approved SAYE scheme    

3.5 years 

           
30. 

  

Option grant to senior management and employees at 30 
August 2012 

   

136,000 

   

Three years of service and subject to a three year 
Sharesave savings contract in accordance with the 

approved SAYE scheme    

3.5 years 

           
31. 

  

Option grant to executive directors, senior management 
and employees at 27 November 2013 

   

394,447 

   

Three years of service and subject to a three year 
Sharesave savings contract in accordance with the 

approved SAYE scheme    

3.5 years 

* 25% of the options granted can be exercised one year after the grant date and then, by equal monthly installments, thereafter for the next 
three years. 

** One third of the options granted can be exercised one year after the grant date, a further third on the second anniversary of the grant date 
and the final third of the options granted can be exercised on the third anniversary of the grant date. 

    
52 weeks ended 29 December  

2013     
52 weeks ended 30 December  

2012   

    

Weighted 
 

average  
exercise  

price 
(pence)     

Number of  
options     

Weighted 
 

average  
exercise  

price  
(pence)     

Number of  
options   

Outstanding at the beginning of the period      198.8        4,371,800        193.4        5,990,745    
Lapsed during the period      174.5        (1,087,371 )      192.4        (1,388,238 )  
Exercised during the period      99.4        (120,326 )      118.5        (366,707 )  
Granted during the period      114.0        394,447        154.0        136,000    

                        

Outstanding at the end of the period      200.2        3,558,550        198.8        4,371,800    
Exercisable at the end of the period      255.8        2,274,321        256.9        2,456,490    



The options outstanding at 29 December 2013 have an exercise price in the ranges as summarised below:  
   

The weighted average share price during the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013 was 173.8 pence per share ( 52 week period ended 
30 December 2012: 191.8 pence per share )  

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted. The 
estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured based on a Black-Scholes model.  
   

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility (calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of the share options), 
adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility based on publicly available information.  

For share options granted to employees in 2013, in 2012, in 2011 and in 2010, the requirement that the employee has to save in order to 
accumulate funds to pay for the exercise cost of the share options in accordance with the Save As You Earn Scheme is a non-vesting condition. 
This feature has been incorporated into the fair value at grant date by applying a discount to the valuation obtained. The discount has been 
determined by estimating the probability that the employee will stop saving based on historic behaviour.  

The share options granted in 2010 to senior management and directors, in respect of the long term incentive plan arrangements, have non-
market performance conditions. Non-market performance conditions are not taken into account in the grant date fair value measurement of the 
services received.  
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Exercise price range   

Number of options outstanding 
 

at  
29 December 2013     

Weighted average remaining 
 

contractual life   
          (years)   

90 to 92 pence      1,123,161        2.5    
114 to 154 pence      516,519        3.4    
161 to 186 pence      419,780        0.8    
204.5 to 256 pence      316,541        0.8    
258 to 293.42 pence      706,736        3.2    
304 to 479 pence      475,813        2.4    

            

    3,558,550        2.4    
        

  

  

Fair value of share options and assumptions   Directors     Directors     
Senior  

Management     
Senior  

Management     
Other  

employees     
Other  

employees   
    2013     2012     2013     2012     2013     2012   
Fair value at measurement date (pence)      39.1        —          39.1        56.0        39.1        56.0    
Share price (pence)      149.75        —          149.75        209.25        149.75        209.25    
Exercise price (pence)      114.0        —          114.0        154.0        114.0        154.0    
Expected volatility      41.5 %      —          41.5 %      41.9 %      41.5 %      41.9 %  
Option life (weighted average life)      3        —          3        3        3        3    
Expected dividends      Nil        —          Nil        Nil        Nil        Nil    
Risk free interest rate (based on UK government bonds)      0.72 %      —          0.72 %      0.49 %      0.72 %      0.49 %  



The Wolfson Microelectronics plc 2006 Performance Share Plan  

The fair value of the contingent share awards and the contingent nil cost options granted from this Plan is the market value of the Company’s 
shares on the date of the award.  
   

The Wolfson Microelectronics plc 2010 Senior Executive Deferred Bonus Plan  

Contingent matching share awards were granted under this scheme on 29 June 2010, on 14 March 2011 and on 15 March 2012 to the executive 
directors and senior managers. The fair value of the contingent matching shares is the market value of the Company’s shares on the date of the 
award. There are non-market related performance and vesting conditions attaching to these awards.  
   

The Wolfson Microelectronics plc 2009 Staff Share Award Plan  

The fair value of the contingent shares is the market value of the Company’s shares on the date of the award.  
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Number of  
contingent  

performance shares / 
 

contingent  
performance nil cost 

 
options     

Weighted 
 

average  
fair value   

           (pence)   

Outstanding as at 31 December 2012       4,329,772        200.60    
Awarded in the period       2,311,876        191.13    
Vested in the period       —          —      
Lapsed in the period       (1,121,288 )      177.95    

         
  

  

Outstanding as at 29 December 2013       5,520,360        201.23    
         

  

  

     

Number of  
contingent  

performance 
 

shares     

Weighted 
 

average  
fair value   

           (pence)   
Outstanding as at 31 December 2012       140,235        183.38    
Awarded in the period       —          —      
Vested in the period       —          —      
Lapsed in the period       (118,905 )      172.25    

             

Outstanding as at 29 December 2013       21,330        245.44    
         

  

  

     

Number of  
contingent  

shares     

Weighted 
 

average  
fair value   

           (pence)   
Outstanding as at 31 December 2012       1,064,714        183.8    
Awarded in the period       776,843        191.2    
Vested in the period       (564,025 )      177.5    
Lapsed in the period       (93,489 )      195.2    

         
  

  

Outstanding as at 29 December 2013       1,184,043        190.8    
         

  

  



The Wolfson Microelectronics plc 2008 Staff Performance Share Plan  

The fair value of the contingent shares granted from this Plan is the market value of the Company’s shares on the date of the award.  
   

   

The total share-based payment expense for the Group for the 52 weeks ended 29 December 2013 of $1,687,000 (52 weeks ended 30 December 
2012: $2,676,000) includes an expense of $13,000 ( 2012:$50,000 expense) in respect of non-equity settled share based payments.  
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Number of 
 

contingent 
 

shares     

Weighted 
 

average  
fair value   

           (pence)   
Outstanding as at 31 December 2012       —          —      
Awarded in the period       137,000        195    
Lapsed in the period       (4,000 )      195    

             

Outstanding as at 29 December 2013       133,000        195    
         

  

  

Employee expenses    

52 weeks  
ended  

29 December 
 

2013     

52 weeks  
ended  

30 December 
 

2012   
   $ 000      $ 000    

Share options granted in 2009       —          (4 )  
Share options granted in 2010       46        (285 )  
Share options granted in 2011       135        166    
Share options granted in 2012       62        14    
Share options granted in 2013       7        —      
Performance shares awarded in 2009       —          (97 )  
Performance shares awarded in 2010       (266 )      (757 )  
Performance shares awarded in 2011       (1,993 )      1,131    
Performance shares awarded in 2012       995        1,008    
Performance shares awarded in 2013       844        —      
Contingent shares awarded in 2009       —          16    
Contingent shares awarded in 2010       37        174    
Contingent shares awarded in 2011       223        580    
Contingent shares awarded in 2012       456        730    
Contingent shares awarded in 2013       1,141        —      

                     

Total share-based payment expense recognised in personnel expenses (note 6)       1,687        2,676    
         

  

        

  



20. Trade and other payables  
   

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 22.  

21. Provisions  
   

Restructuring and severance  

During the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013, a total provision of $2,395,000 was recognised by the Group. This comprised: a 
severance provision of $1,500,000 (for the Group and Company) as a result of the skills transition to a higher proportion of software engineers 
to support market requirements in the first half of the year; and then a provision of $895,000 for the Group in respect of the cost reduction plan 
announcement in the second half of 2013. The provision is mainly in respect of employee termination costs.  

22. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management  

The Group’s principal financial instruments as at 29 December 2013 comprise cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial 
instruments is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group has other financial instruments which mainly comprise trade receivables and trade 
payables which arise directly from its operations. In addition, during 2013, the Company entered into forward foreign exchange contracts some 
of which remain in place as at 29 December 2013.  

In 2013, a large proportion of the Company’s structural exposure to fluctuations in the US dollar to Sterling exchange rate (see ‘Currency risk’ 
section below) was hedged by the Company entering into forward foreign exchange contracts in 2012. During 2012, the Board of Directors of 
the Company decided that forward foreign exchange contracts should be entered into by the Company up to twelve months forward in order to 
hedge a large proportion of the US dollar to Sterling exchange rate exposure, which arises on Sterling denominated overhead expenditure. This 
hedging policy continued to be adopted in 2013.  

The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.  

Exposure to market risk (which includes currency and interest rate risk) and credit risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.  
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     Group   
     2013      2012   

   $ 000       $ 000    

Non-current liabilities        
Other payables       483         1,622    

         

  

         

  

Current liabilities        
Trade payables       10,954         24,326    
Amounts due to subsidiaries       —           —      
Non-trade payables       5,266         4,929    
Accruals       3,989         7,938    
Deferred income       757         509    

         

  

         

  

     20,966         37,702    
         

  

         

  

     

Restructuring and 
 

severance     Total   
     $000     $000   

Balance at 31 December 2012       —          —      
Provisions made in the period       2,395        2,395    
Provisions used in the period       (1,395 )      (1,395 )  

                     

Balance at 29 December 2013       1,000        1,000    
         

  

        

  



The Group has a Treasury Committee which is chaired by J Grant and its other members are the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial 
Officer, and RK Graham (and, with effect from 31 January 2014, C. Ginman). This Committee meets periodically, as required, and it reviews 
the Group’s overall financial risk management including specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest-rate risk, credit risk and liquidity 
management. The Committee reports to, and makes recommendations to, the Board regarding these matters.  

Accounting classifications and fair values  

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair 
value hierarchy. It does not include the fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the 
carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.  
   

   

Measurement of fair values  

The basis of determining fair values is disclosed in note 2(x). The fair values together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet are 
shown in the preceding tables.  
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As at 29 December 2013         Carrying amount     Fair value   

    Notes     

Fair value- 
hedging  

instruments     

Designated at fair 
 

value     

Loans and 
 

receivables     

Other  
financial 
liabilities     Total     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total   

          $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000   
Financial assets measured at fair 

value                      
Forward foreign exchange contracts 

used for hedging      16        2,389        —          —          —          2,389        —          2,389        —          2,389    
Financial assets not measured at fair 

value                      
Trade and other receivables      15        —          —          28,899        —          28,899            
Cash and cash equivalents      17        —          —          25,886        —          25,886            
Short-term deposits      17        —          —          —          —          —              

                                                            

      —          —          54,785        —          54,785            
          

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

Financial liabilities measured at fair 
value                      

Contingent consideration      22        —          (3,207 )      —          —          (3,207 )      —          —          (3,207 )      (3,207 )  
          

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Financial liabilities not measured at 
fair value                      

Trade and other payables      20        —          —          —          (18,242 )      (18,242 )          
          

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

As at 30 December 2012         Carrying amount     Fair value   

    Notes     

Fair value- 
hedging  

instruments     

Designated at fair 
 

value     

Loans and 
 

receivables     

Other  
financial 
liabilities     Total     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total   

          $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000   
Financial assets measured at fair 

value                      
Forward foreign exchange contracts 

used for hedging      16        621        —          —          —          621        —          621        —          621    
Financial assets not measured at fair 

value                      
Trade and other receivables      15        —          —          37,805        —          37,805            
Cash and cash equivalents      17        —          —          19,974        —          19,974            
Short-term deposits      17        —          —          28,000        —          28,000            

                                                            

      —          —          85,779        —          85,779            
          

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

Financial liabilities measured at fair 
value                      

Contingent consideration      22        —          (4,265 )      —          —          (4,265 )      —          —          (4,265 )      (4,265 )  
          

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Financial liabilities not measured at 
fair value                      

Trade and other payables      20        —          —          —          (35,059 )      (35,059 )          
          

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        



The following section summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments reflected in 
the preceding table, other than for financial instruments set out in note 2 (x):  

Fair value hierarchy  

The preceding tables analyse financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows: 
   

   

   

Where the carrying amounts of short-term receivables and payables approximate to their fair values, these fair values are not required to be 
disclosed separately in the fair value hierarchy tables above.  

   

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in measuring Level 2 and Level 3 fair values as well as the significant unobservable 
inputs used.  

Financial instruments measured at fair value  
   

  •   Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

  •   Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as 
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

  •   Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

  i. Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs 

Type    Valuation technique   Significant unobservable inputs    

Inter -relationship  
between significant  
unobservable inputs and  
fair value measurement 

Contingent consideration 

   

The fair value is determined by 
considering the expected payment, 
discounted to present value using a 
risk-adjusted discount rate. The 
expected payment is determined by 
considering the possible scenarios in 
respect of: the business milestones 
(in relation to the contingent 
consideration for the Sonaptic 
acquisition) or the utilisation of pre-
acquisition tax losses (in relation to 
the contingent consideration for the 
Dynamic Hearing acquisition); the 
amount to be paid under each 
scenario; and the probability of each 
scenario.   

•  Probability assessments regarding 
extent of: achievement of milestones 
(in relation to the contingent 
consideration for the Sonaptic 
acquisition) ; and utilisation of pre-
acquisition tax losses (in relation to 
the contingent consideration for the 
Dynamic Hearing acquisition)  

   

•  Estimated timing of: achievement of 
milestones; and utilisation of pre-
acquisition tax losses.  

   

•  Risk adjusted discount rate  

   

The estimated fair value would 
increase if:  
   

•  The assessment of probability 
was higher in respect of 
achieving the relevant milestones 
and / or utilising the pre-
acquisition losses.  

   

•  The estimated timing, of 
achievement of milestones and / 
or use of the pre-acquisition tax 
losses, was earlier  

   

•  The risk-adjusted discount rate 
was lower  

Forward foreign 
exchange contracts 

   

The fair value of forward exchange 
contracts is based on their listed 
market price, if available. If a listed 
market price is not available, then 
fair value is estimated by discounting 
the difference between the 
contractual forward price and the 
current forward price for the residual 
maturity of the contract using a risk-
free interest rate (based on 
government bonds).   

Not applicable 

   

Not applicable 



Trade and other receivables / payables  

All trade and other receivables and payables, except for $0.5 million included in other payables ( 2012: $1.6 million ), have a remaining life of 
less than one year. The nominal amount is deemed to reflect the fair value.  

   

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values  

The following table contains a reconciliation from the balances at the start and end of the period for fair value measurements in Level 3 of the 
fair value hierarchy.  
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  ii. Level 3 fair values 

     2013     2012   
     $000     $000   

Balance at start of the period       (4,265 )      (5,987 )  
Amounts of consideration paid in the period       1,773        3,200    
Total gains and losses recognised in profit or loss (note 7)       (115 )      (252 )  
Revision to contingent consideration recognised in goodwill (note 12)       (600 )      (1,226 )  
Arising from business combination (note 10)       —          —      

         

  

        

  

Balance at end of the period       (3,207 )      (4,265 )  
         

  

        

  



The change in the value of contingent consideration of $115,000 recognised in the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013 relates to the 
unwinding of the notional interest and is recognised as part of the finance cost in the consolidated income statement (note 7). The change in the 
value of contingent consideration of $600,000, recognised as an adjustment to goodwill (note 12) in the consolidated balance sheet in the 52 
week period ended 29 December 2013, relates to the reassessment in the period of the timing and probability of payment of the consideration.  

Financial risk management objectives and policies  

Market risk  

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Group’s income or the 
value of its holdings of financial instruments. The management of market risk involves the control of market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimising the return having regard to risk.  

Currency risk  

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to currency risk on purchases, sales and cash and cash equivalents that are denominated in a 
currency other than United States dollars. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Pounds Sterling, Yen and Euros. Foreign 
exchange risk arises from transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.  

In financial periods prior to 2008, the Group did not use foreign exchange contracts to hedge its currency risk. This policy was reviewed during 
2008 and resulted in the Group deciding to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts primarily to hedge some of the Group’s exposure to 
fluctuations in the US dollar to Sterling exchange rate in 2009. During 2009, 2010 and 2011, the Group entered into forward foreign exchange 
contracts each quarter to hedge a large proportion of the Group’s structural exposure to fluctuations in the US dollar to Sterling exchange rate 
for the following quarter. In 2012 and 2013, the Group hedged its estimated foreign currency exposure in respect of its Sterling denominated 
overhead costs over the financial year. As at 29 December 2013, the Group have hedged its estimated foreign currency exposure in respect of 
its Sterling denominated overhead costs over the following ten months. The forward foreign exchange contracts, in place as at 29 December 
2013, have a maturity of one to ten months from that date. The forward foreign exchange contracts, in place as at 29 December 2013, are 
designated cash flow hedges, in accordance with the accounting policy at note 2 (f).  

The majority of the Group’s revenue and cost of sales are denominated in US dollars. Approximately 30% ( 2012:30% approximately) of the 
Group’s operating costs, other than cost of sales, are denominated in US dollars. The vast majority of the operating expenses are denominated 
in Pounds Sterling.  

For those monetary assets and liabilities held in currencies other than US dollars, the Group ensures that the net exposure is kept to an 
acceptable level by selling or buying foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address short-term imbalances.  

The Group has investments in foreign operations whose net assets are exposed to currency translation risk. This currency exposure arising from 
the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations is not significant and there is currently no requirement for borrowings, therefore this exposure 
is not managed through borrowings denominated in the relevant foreign currencies.  
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Financial assets and financial liabilities by currency         2013     2012   
     Notes    $000     $000   

US dollar trade and other receivables     15      26,570        35,463    
Other currencies – trade and other receivables     15      2,329        2,342    
US dollar cash and cash equivalents     17      22,694        18,463    
Sterling cash and cash equivalents     17      817        (357 )  
Other currencies – cash and cash equivalents     17      2,375        1,868    
US dollar short-term deposits     17      —          28,000    
Sterling derivatives used for hedging     16      2,389        621    

Other currencies - trade and other payables     20      (6,553 )      (11,355 )  
US dollar trade and other payables     20      (14,896 )      (27,969 )  



The following significant exchange rates applied during the periods:  
   

Interest rate risk  

The Group earn interest from bank deposits and they hold money market deposits with highly credit rated financial institutions. During 2013, 
the Group have held cash on deposits with a range of maturities from one to six months. This can vary in view of changes in US and UK 
interest rates and the Group’s cash requirements.  

The Group and the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are subject to floating interest rates. As the maturities of bank deposits are less than 
one year, they are classified as floating rate financial assets.  

Sensitivity analysis  

At 29 December 2013, it is estimated that a general increase of one percentage point in interest rates would improve the Group’s result before 
tax by approximately $260,000 (as at 30 December 2012: $500,000 ).  

It is estimated that a decrease of one cent in the US dollar / Sterling exchange rate would have improved the Group’s result before tax by 
approximately $300,000 for the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013 ( 2012: $300,000 ). There were forward foreign exchange contracts 
in place during 2012, 2013, as at 30 December 2012 and as at 29 December 2013.  

It is estimated that a decrease of one cent in the US dollar / Sterling exchange rate would have reduced the fair value of assets for derivatives 
used for hedging as at 29 December 2013 by approximately $250,000 ( as at 30 December 2012: $300,000 decrease in the fair value of assets 
for derivatives used for hedging ).  

Credit risk  

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The exposure to credit risk is mitigated by selling to a diverse range of customers 
and, where necessary, obtaining either letters of credit or payments in advance. The Group establishes a specific allowance for impairment if a 
loss is estimated in respect of trade and other receivables.  

Counterparties for cash and short-term deposits are limited to financial institutions which have a high credit rating. The Group has policies that 
limit the amount of credit exposure to any financial institution and these have been reviewed regularly during the period.  
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     Average rate      
Spot rate at balance  

sheet date   
     2013      2012      2013      2012   
     $      $      $      $   
GBP 1:       1.5653         1.5807         1.6471         1.6154    
EUR 1:       1.3283         1.2857         1.3745         1.3217    
JPY 1:       0.0105         0.0125         0.0095         0.0116    
AUD 1:       0.9821         1.0314         0.8865         1.0371    



Exposure to credit risk  

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the balance sheet. Therefore the 
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:  
   

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographical region was:  
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     Notes    2013      2012   
          $000      $000   

Trade and other receivables     15      28,899         37,805    
Cash and cash equivalents     17      25,886         19,974    
Short-term deposits     17      —           28,000    

            

  

         

  

        54,785         85,779    
            

  

         

  

     Note    2013      2012   
          $000      $000   
Japan          2,957         1,944    
Asia Pacific          15,088         16,294    
Americas          2,711         9,071    
Europe and rest of world          4,711         6,640    

                         

   15      25,467         33,949    
            

  

         

  



Impairment losses  

The aged profile of the Group’s trade receivables at the reporting date was:  
   

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the period was as follows:  
   

The allowance in respect of trade receivables is used to record impairment losses unless the Group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount 
owing is possible; at that point the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against the trade receivable directly.  

Based on past experience, the Group believes that no further impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables which are past 
due.  

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to managing 
liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and 
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.  

The Group regularly reviews its cash flow requirements on a rolling quarterly basis. During 2013, short-term US dollar deposits are placed with 
financial institutions which have a high credit rating. The deposits are usually placed so that at least one deposit matures each month.  

As at 29 December 2013 the Group had cash and cash equivalents of $25,886,000 ( as at 30 December 2012: $19,974,000 ) and short-term 
deposits of $nil ( as at 30 December 2012: $28,000,000). On 31 January 2014 the Company has agreed a three year $25 million committed line 
of credit with its principal bankers (note 28).  
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     2013     2012   
     Gross      Impairment     Gross      Impairment   
     $000      $000     $000      $000   
Not past due       18,068         —          25,890         —      
Past due 0 to 30 days       5,213         —          6,039         (2 )  
Past due 31 to 60 days       1,847         —          1,279         (2 )  
Past due 61 to 90 days       83         —          756         (11 )  
More than 90 days       633         (377 )      127         (127 )  

         

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

     25,844         (377 )      34,091         (142 )  
         

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

     2013     2012   
     $000     $000   
Balance at start of the period       142        147    
Written off against irrecoverable trade receivable       (14 )      (5 )  
Impairment loss recognised       249        —      

         

  

        

  

Balance at end of the period       377        142    
         

  

        

  



Maturity analysis  

There are amounts totalling $3.2 million ( 2012: $4.3 million ) included in non-trade payables of which $3.2 million ( 2012: $3.2 million ) falls 
due within one year and $nil ( 2012: $1.1 million ) in one to three years from the balance sheet date. These balances are the contingent 
consideration amounts as at 29 December 2013 relating to acquisitions of subsidiaries made in 2007 and in 2011.  

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities. The disclosure shows the gross cash inflow and outflow amounts for 
derivatives that have simultaneous gross cash settlement (for example forward foreign exchange contracts):  
   

The following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with derivatives that are cash flow hedges are expected to occur 
and the periods in which the cash flows associated with derivatives that are cash flow hedges are expected to impact profit or loss.  
   

Capital Management  

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong balance sheet so as to maintain investor, customer, and creditor and market confidence and to sustain 
the future development of the business. The Group and the Company are equity financed and the directors view the 116.78 million ordinary 
shares in issue (see note 18) as the principal capital being managed in the business. The Company has been equity financed since October 2003 
when the Company listed its ordinary 0.1 pence shares on the London Stock Exchange with the principal purpose to increase the Company’s 
equity capital, to create a public market in its ordinary shares and strengthen the Company’s balance sheet, in order to provide increased 
security and confidence to the Company’s customers and suppliers in a sector known for its underlying trading volatility.  

Purchase of own shares  

As a matter of policy, the Company may from time to time purchase its own shares on the market, the timing of these purchases depends on 
market prices. The Company will only purchase its own shares when, in the light of market  
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Group  
as at 29 December 2013     

Carrying 
 

amount     

Contractual 
 

cash flows     

6 months or 
 

less     
6 to 12  
months     1 to 2 years     2 to 5 years   

     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000   
Non-derivative financial liabilities               
Trade and other payables       (21,449 )      (23,931 )      (23,435 )      (12 )      (320 )      (164 )  

                                                             

     (21,449 )      (23,931 )      (23,435 )      (12 )      (320 )      (164 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Group  
as at 30 December 2012     

Carrying  
amount     

Contractual 
 

cash flows     

6 months or 
 

less     
6 to 12  
months     1 to 2 years     2 to 5 years   

     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000   
Non-derivative financial liabilities               
Trade and other payables       (39,324 )      (42,521 )      (36,213 )      (3,400 )      (2,728 )      (180 )  

                                                             

     (39,324 )      (42,521 )      (36,213 )      (3,400 )      (2,728 )      (180 )  
         

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

Group    

Carrying 
 

amount      
Expected  
cash flows      

6 months 
 

or less      

6 to 12 
 

months   
     $000      $000      $000      $000   
as at 29 December 2013              
Forward foreign exchange contracts:              

Assets       2,389         2,375         1,765         610    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

as at 30 December 2012              
Forward foreign exchange contracts:              

Assets       621         684         616         68    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  



conditions prevailing at the time, the Board believes that the effect of such purchases is in the best interest of shareholders generally. Other 
investment opportunities, appropriate gearing levels and the overall position of the Company will be taken into account before the Company 
purchases its own shares. At the Annual General Meeting held on 25 April 2013 the shareholders granted the Company the authority to 
purchase, in the market, its own ordinary shares up to a maximum of 11,664,394 ordinary shares. In 2013 and in 2012, the Company did not 
purchase any of its own shares. This policy will be reviewed by the Board on a regular basis.  

Dividends  

The Company’s current policy, which is kept under regular review, is to retain future earnings for the development and expansion of the 
business. Payment of any future dividends will be at the discretion of the Board after taking into account various factors, including the 
Company’s current and future cash requirements, development plans and operating results.  

Management of cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposit balances  

The $20.4 million loss reported before tax for the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013 ($9.4 million loss for the 52 week period ended 
30 December 2012), reduces to a loss before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (‘EBITDA’) of $8.5 million once non-cash 
depreciation and amortisation are added back, compared to a profit before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation of $0.2 million in 2012. 
Non-cash share-based compensation amounted to $1.7 million in 2013 against $2.6 million in 2012. With revenues in 2013 being nearly flat 
compared to revenues for the financial year 2012, a decrease in trade and other receivables and inventories of $9.5 million, also trade payables 
and provisions decreased by a net $16.0 million, resulted in a net working capital outflow of $6.5 million in 2013. After milestone payments of 
$1.8 million, capital expenditure of $7.6 million and various other small cash movements, the total cash, cash equivalents and short-term 
deposits balance decreased by $22.1 million to $25.9 million as at 29 December 2013 (as at 30 December 2012: $48.0 million).  

In October 2013 the Company announced a restructure programme with the objective of lowering the overhead cost base by $10 million per 
annum, with full effect from the end of the first quarter of 2014. In addition, in January 2014 the Company has agreed a three year $25 million 
committed line of credit with its principal bankers (note 28). With no debt and cash and cash equivalents of $25.9 million at 29 December 
2013, a lowered cost base by $10 million per annum and a $25 million credit line, the Company has more than sufficient cash resources to 
maintain and grow the business.  

23. Operating leases  

Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:  
   

None of these leases includes contingent rentals.  

During the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013, $1,743,000 was recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement in respect 
of operating leases ( 52 week period ended 30 December 2012: $2,220,000).  
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     2013      2012   
     $000      $000   
Expiring in:        
Less than one year       168         407    
Between one and five years       1,269         2,808    
More than five years       3,983         —      

                      

     5,420         3,215    
         

  

         

  



24. Capital Commitments  

As at 29 December 2013, the Group had entered into contracts to purchase property, plant and equipment and computer software for 
$4,590,000 ( 2012: $7,815,000 ) of which $4,042,000 is expected to be settled in 2014 and $548,000 in 2015.  

25. Related parties  

Identity of related parties  

The Company has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries (see note 26), with the employee share trusts (see notes 18 and 19) and with 
its directors.  

Transactions with key management personnel  

Key management personnel compensation  

In addition to their salaries, the Group and Company also provide non-cash benefits to executive directors and contribute to a defined 
contribution pension plan on their behalf. The executive directors also participate in the Group’s share option schemes and other long term 
incentive plans (see note 19). Details of the directors’ remuneration are contained in the Directors’ Remuneration Report section of the Annual 
Report and Accounts 2013.  

Key management personnel compensation, in respect of the executive and non-executive directors of the Company, comprised:  
   

The share-based payments figures in the table above are the share-based payments expense amounts recognised in the Group and Company 
financial statements in the period in respect of the share-based awards of the executive directors.  

Key management personnel and director transactions  

Directors of the Company and their immediate relatives control 1.2% of the voting ordinary shares of the Company. G Collinson was appointed 
as a non executive director of the Company on 1 September 2008. From April 2005 to July 2007, G Collinson served as a non-executive 
director of Sonaptic Limited and he was also a shareholder of Sonaptic Limited. G Collinson held 6,667 ‘A’ ordinary shares in Sonaptic 
Limited. Wolfson Microelectronics plc acquired the entire issued share capital of Sonaptic Limited on 23 July 2007. G Collinson received 
initial consideration of $279,208 (net of professional fees and charges) at the time of acquisition, from Wolfson Microelectronics plc and, 
following the release of the amount of initial consideration held in escrow on 29 January 2009, a further $22,240 (net of professional fees and 
charges). The terms of the acquisition were such that contingent consideration was payable to the shareholders of Sonaptic Limited. Therefore, 
as part of the consideration for his shares held in Sonaptic Limited as at the date of acquisition, G Collinson is entitled to receive, subject to the 
achievement of specific business milestones, a proportion of the contingent consideration from Wolfson Microelectronics plc in accordance 
with the terms of the share purchase agreement entered into on 23 July 2007 between the Company and the selling shareholders of Sonaptic 
Limited. In the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013, $14,053 of contingent consideration was paid to G Collinson by the Company 
( 2012: $28,105 ). G Collinson did not and will not participate in any discussion nor final decisions by the Board regarding the achievement of 
milestones and payment of contingent consideration.  
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52 weeks ended  

29 December 2013      
52 weeks ended  

30 December 2012   
     $000      $000   

Short - term employee benefits       1,290         1,509    
Post - employment benefits       58         55    
Share - based payments (fair value)       146         284    

                      

     1,494         1,848    
         

  

         

  



Other related party transactions  

During the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013, subsidiaries earned commission income from the Company of $12.0 million ( 2012: 
$11.9 million) and the Company provided management services to the subsidiaries totalling $2.7 million (2012: $2.7 million). The Company 
provided a loan of $3.02 million to its wholly owned subsidiary, Wolfson Microelectronics Australia Holding Pty Ltd, in 2011 and none of that 
loan was repaid in 2012 nor in 2013. The loan was increased by $ 0.2 million in 2013. Interest receivable by the Company on the total loan 
balance amounted to $0.2 million in 2013 ( 2012: $0.3 million).  

As explained in note 10, Wolfson Dynamic Hearing Pty Ltd joined the Group following its acquisition on 30 September 2011. The Company 
continued to license technology from Wolfson Dynamic Hearing and incurred costs, primarily relating to that license and development 
activities of $2.1 million during the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013 ($1.7 million during 52 week period ended 30 December 2012). 
As at 29 December 2013 the Company owed its subsidiaries $6,218,000 ( 2012: $5,766,000) and $3,901,000 was owed by the subsidiaries 
( 2012: $3,470,000 owed by the subsidiaries ). No dividends were received from the subsidiaries in 2013 or in 2012.  

There are two employee share trusts: The Wolfson Microelectronics No.1 Employees’ Share Trust (‘the No.1 Trust’) and The Wolfson 
Microelectronics No. 2 Employees’ Share Trust (‘the No.2 Trust’). These trusts did not receive additional loans from the Company in the 52 
week period ended 29 December 2013 nor in the 52 week period ended 30 December 2012; the Trusts repaid $nil of the loans ( 2012: $nil) and 
as at 29 December 2013, $38,846,000 of these loans were outstanding ( as at 30 December 2012: $38,846,000 ). During the 52 week period 
ended 29 December 2013 the No.1 Trust purchased 754 ( 2012: 1,981 ) of the Company’s ordinary shares, for a total consideration of $2,000 
( 2012:$7,000), for the purposes of fulfilling awards under The Wolfson Microelectronics 2006 Performance Share Plan, The Wolfson 
Microelectronics 2009 Staff Share Award Plan and to satisfy certain share option awards (note 19). There were 2,392,522 of the Company’s 
ordinary shares, in total, held by the No.1 and the No.2 Trusts as at 29 December 2013 ( as at 30 December 2012: 2,938,837 ordinary shares).  

26. Group Entities  

Significant subsidiaries  
   

Sonaptic Limited has three wholly owned subsidiaries: Sonaptic, Inc. (incorporated in the United States of America); Wolfson Microelectronics 
KK (incorporated in Japan); and Wolfson Microelectronics Korea Limited (incorporated in South Korea). The principal activity of each of 
these companies is sales agency.  

All of these companies are included in the consolidated financial statements of Wolfson Microelectronics plc from the date on which control 
commenced.  

27. Accounting estimates and judgements  

The Board considered the relevance, selection, implications and disclosure of the Group’s critical accounting policies and estimates and the 
application of these policies and estimates.  
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     Notes    
Country of  

incorporation    Principal activity    
Ownership  

interest   
                    2013      2012   
                    %      %   
Wolfson Microelectronics, Inc.  

      

United States of 
 

America     Sales agency      100         100    
Wolfson Microelectronics Pte. Ltd        Singapore    Sales agency      100         100    
Sonaptic Limited  

      England    
Research &  
development       100         100    

Wolfson Dynamic Hearing Pty Ltd  

   10    Australia    

Development of  
sound enhancement 

software &  
technology       100         100    

Wolfson Microelectronics Australia Holding Pty Ltd        Australia    Holding company      100         100    



The criteria for assessing the accounting for development expenditure are set out in the accounting policy at note 2(e) (ii).  

Key sources of estimation uncertainty  

Impairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill  

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 2 (k). The 
carrying amount of goodwill as at 29 December 2013 is shown in note 12. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been 
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates for the timing and amount of projected cash 
flows (note 12). The effect of reducing the estimated revenues earned over the period of the cash flow projections, by up to 50%, indicate that 
such a significant reduction of the projected cash flows from the expected level would not cause the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit to fall below the carrying amount. In addition, the effect of a change of 5 percentage points in the discount rate applied to the projected 
cash flows would have no impact on the carrying value of goodwill as at 29 December 2013.  

Deferred tax assets  

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
tax losses can be utilised. Management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon 
the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.  

The Group has significant tax losses carried forward on which a deferred tax asset of $14.5 million ( 2012: $12.3 million ) is recognised as at 
29 December 2013 (note 13). In considering the forecasts of future taxable profits, the Board has also considered the specific current 
commitments from customers, the impact of the cost reduction actions recently taken and the Company’s recent strategic transformation and 
track record and likely positive impact on profitability and break-even point.  

The Group has a further $5.9 million ( 2012:$5.7 million ) of tax losses carried forward. These losses relate to subsidiaries that have a history 
of tax losses and may not be used to offset taxable income elsewhere in the Group. The subsidiaries neither have any taxable temporary 
differences nor any tax planning opportunities available that could partly support the recognition of these losses as deferred tax assets. On this 
basis, the Group has determined that it cannot recognise deferred tax assets on those tax losses carried forward. If the Group was able to 
recognise all unrecognised deferred tax assets, the result for the 52 week period ended 29 December 2013 and equity would have increased by 
$1.8 million. Further details are disclosed in note 13.  

Inventories  

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Some items included in inventories are written down to their net realisable 
value based on assumptions about future demand and market conditions. If actual market conditions are less favourable than those projected by 
management, then inventory may be required to be written down by additional amounts. The carrying amount of inventories as at 29 December 
2013 is shown in note 14. The effect of writing down 1% of the Group’s inventory as at 29 December 2013 would be a charge of $0.2 million 
in the income statement. The assessment of whether an inventory write down is required is dependent on the circumstances prevailing at the 
time of that assessment.  

Employee post-employment benefits – defined benefit pensions  

The determination of the Group’s obligations and expense for defined benefit pensions is dependent on the selection, by the Board of Directors, 
of assumptions used by the pension scheme actuary in calculating these amounts. The assumptions applied are described in note 19 and 
include, amongst others, discount rate and mortality rates. While the directors consider that the assumptions are appropriate, significant 
differences in the actual experience or significant changes in assumptions may materially affect the amount of the Group’s future pension 
obligations, actuarial gains and losses included in the statement of comprehensive income in future years and the future financial expenses. The 
carrying amount of the liability for defined benefit obligations as at 29 December 2013 is shown in note 19. It is estimated that a 0.1% decrease 
in the discount rate, with all other assumptions remaining unchanged, would cause the present value of defined benefit pension obligations as at 
29 December 2013 to increase by approximately $0.5 million. Other sensitivities in respect of the assumptions are provided in note 19.  
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Share-based payments  

The Group’s share-based payments expense is based on the fair value of the share-based awards. The estimation of the fair values for share-
based payments is dependent, in respect of share options, on the selection by the Board of Directors of assumptions applied in the valuation 
model. The assumptions applied are described in note 19 and include, amongst others, expected volatility, the weighted average expected life of 
the instruments and the risk free rate. While the directors consider that the assumptions are appropriate, changes in these assumptions may 
materially affect the amount of the expense recognised for share-based payments. The share-based payments expense recognised in the 52 
weeks ended 29 December 2013 is shown in note 19.  

In accordance with the accounting policy 2(n) (iii), the amount recognised as a share-based payment expense is adjusted during the vesting 
period to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met. During the 
vesting period, it is therefore necessary to make an assessment of the extent to which such share-based payments are likely to vest. While the 
directors consider that such estimated assessments are appropriate, changes in these assessments during the vesting period may materially 
affect the amount of the expense recognised for share-based payments in a particular accounting period.  

Contingent consideration  

The amount of contingent consideration that is recognised as being payable, as part of business combinations, is dependent upon assumptions 
regarding the timing and probability of payment of the consideration. Where the amount and payment of the consideration is dependent on the 
achievement of specified milestones it is necessary to assess the likelihood and timing of those milestones being achieved. Contingent 
consideration was payable by the Group upon the acquisitions, in 2007, of Oligon Limited and of Sonaptic Limited and also upon the 
acquisition in 2011 of Dynamic Hearing Pty Limited (note 10). As at 29 December 2013, a total of $3.2 million is included in other payables, 
within current liabilities, in respect of the remaining balance of the contingent consideration for those acquisitions (note 12). While the 
directors consider that the assumptions regarding the timing and probability of payment of the consideration are appropriate, significant 
changes in these assumptions may materially affect the liability for contingent consideration, with a corresponding change to goodwill (in 
respect of the contingent consideration for the Sonaptic Limited acquisition) or with a corresponding amount recognised in profit or loss (in 
respect of the contingent consideration for the acquisition of Dynamic Hearing Pty Limited). It is estimated that if the probability of one of the 
milestones being achieved altered by 10% then the liability for contingent consideration would change by approximately $0.5 million.  

28. Post balance sheet event  

On 31 January 2014 the Company entered into a three year $25 million committed working capital facility with The Royal Bank of Scotland 
plc, its principal bankers. The Company has granted the bank a bond and floating charge over the assets of the Company as security for this 
facility.  
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Exhibit 99.2 

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL ST ATEMENTS  

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements give effect to the acquisition by Cirrus Logic of Wolfson. This is 
accounted for as a purchase business combination. These unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements have been prepared 
from the historical consolidated financial statements of Cirrus and Wolfson and should be read in conjunction therewith.  

On August 21, 2014 (Acquisition Date), Cirrus Logic completed the acquisition of all of the issued and to be issued share capital of Wolfson 
(the “Acquisition”) for all of the Shares at the Offer Price of £2.35 per share. Immediately following the completion of the Acquisition, 
Wolfson became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cirrus Logic. Cirrus Logic funded the Wolfson Acquisition through the use of available cash 
and borrowings of $226 million under its revolving credit facility. The total equity value for the acquisition was $488 million (based upon a 
1.68 exchange rate) and the total amount of Wolfson liabilities consolidated under Cirrus Logic in the Acquisition was $30 million.  

The following pro forma condensed combined financial statements are presented to illustrate the effects of the merger on the historical financial 
position and operating results of Cirrus and Wolfson. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of June 28, 2014 gives 
effect to the merger as if it had occurred on that date, and combines the unaudited historical condensed balance sheets of Cirrus Logic as of 
June 28, 2014 and Wolfson as of March 30, 2014. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the fiscal year 
ended March 29, 2014 gives effect to the merger as if it had occurred at the beginning of the period presented, and combines the audited 
historical statements of operations of Cirrus Logic for the fiscal year ended March 29, 2014 and the audited historical statement of operations 
of Wolfson for the year ended December 29, 2013. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the three months 
ended June 28, 2014 gives effect to the merger as if it had occurred at the beginning of the earliest period presented, and combines the 
unaudited results of operations for the three months ended June 28, 2014 for Cirrus Logic and the three months ended March 30, 2014 for 
Wolfson.  

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements do not include the realization of potential cost savings from operating 
efficiencies, synergies or other restructurings that may result from the merger.  

The pro forma information is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the operating results or financial 
position that would have occurred if the merger and the acquisition had been consummated as of the dates indicated, nor is it necessarily 
indicative of future operating results or financial position. The pro forma adjustments are based upon information and assumptions available at 
the time of the filing of this document. The pro forma information should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes thereto, Cirrus 
Logic’s historical financial statements and related notes thereto as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and Wolfson’s 
historical financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this filing.  
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Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information as of and for the fiscal quarter ended June 28, 2014  

CIRRUS LOGIC, INC.  
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet  

in thousands  
As of June 28, 2014  
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     Cirrus     Wolfson      Pro Forma     
Pro Forma  
Combined   

ASSETS            
Current assets            

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 268,544      $ 25,182       $ (243,042 ) a    $ 50,684    
Marketable securities       75,198        —           —          75,198    
Accounts receivable, net       77,219        23,215         —          100,434    
Inventories       92,002        27,362         6,441  b      125,805    
Deferred tax asset       19,921        —           —          19,921    
Other current assets       40,469        1,998         1,439  g      43,906    

                                          

Total current assets       573,353        77,757         (235,162 )      415,948    

Long-term marketable securities       39,952             39,952    
Property and equipment, net       102,765        19,905         9,188  c      131,858    
Intangibles, net       11,341        33,370         142,617  d      187,328    
Goodwill       16,367        —           208,617  e      224,984    
Deferred tax asset       25,034        18,479         (18,479 ) h      25,034    
Other assets       1,007        —           —          1,007    

                                          

Total assets     $ 769,819      $ 149,511       $ 106,781      $ 1,026,111    
         

  

        

  

         

  

        

  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’  EQUITY            
Current liabilities            

Accounts payable     $ 75,695      $ 23,708       $ (10,440 ) f    $ 88,963    
Accrued salaries and benefits       11,598        —           —          11,598    
Other accrued liabilities       14,080        910         —          14,990    
Deferred income on shipments to distributors       7,398        —           —          7,398    

                                          

Total current liabilities       108,771        24,618         (10,440 )      122,949    

Long-term debt obligation       —          —           226,439  g      226,439    
Other long-term obligations       4,039        4,192         11,483  h      19,714    

Stockholders’  equity:            
Capital stock       1,088,493        62,127         (62,127 ) i      1,088,493    
Accumulated income (deficit)       (430,663 )      56,576         (56,576 ) i      (430,663 )  
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)       (821 )      1,998         (1,998 ) i      (821 )  

         
  

        
  

         
  

        
  

Total stockholders’  equity       657,009        120,701         (120,701 )      657,009    
                                          

Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity     $ 769,819      $ 149,511       $ 106,781      $ 1,026,111    
         

  

        

  

         

  

        

  



Cirrus Logic, Inc.  
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations  

For the Fiscal Quarter Ended June 28, 2014  
(in thousands, except for per share data)  
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     Actual     Pro Forma   
     Cirrus     Wolfson     Adjustments     Combined   
Revenue     $ 152,565      $ 28,805      $ —        $ 181,370    

Cost of sales       77,190        15,248        —          92,438    
                                         

Gross profit       75,375        13,557        —          88,932    
                                         

Research and development       39,777        11,873        6,834  j      58,484    
Selling, general and administrative       19,683        7,413        8,832  k      35,928    

                                         

Total operating expenses       59,460        19,286        15,666        94,412    

Operating profit (loss)       15,915        (5,729 )      (15,666 )      (5,480 )  

Interest income (expense)       (467 )      7        (624 ) l      (1,084 )  
Other income (expense), net       501        (48 )      —          453    

                                         

Income (loss) before income taxes       15,949        (5,770 )      (16,290 )      (6,111 )  
Provision (benefit) for income taxes       5,701        (1,166 )      (3,365 ) m      1,170    

                                         

Net income (loss)     $ 10,248      $ (4,604 )    $ (12,925 )    $ (7,281 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Earnings (loss) per Share attributable to the stockholders of Cirrus Logic, Inc.:           
Basic     $ 0.17          $ (0.12 )  
Diluted     $ 0.16          $ (0.12 )  

Weighted average shares outstanding:           
Basic       62,032            62,032    
Diluted       64,688            62,032    



Unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the fiscal year ended March 29, 2014  

Cirrus Logic, Inc.  
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Consolidated Statement of Operations  

For the Fiscal Year Ended March 29, 2014  
(in thousands, except for per share data)  
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     Actual     Pro Forma   
     Cirrus     Wolfson     Adjustments     Combined   
Revenue     $ 714,338      $ 179,436      $ —        $ 893,774    

Cost of sales       358,175        103,457        —          461,632    
                                         

Gross profit       356,163        75,979        —          432,142    
                                         

Research and development       126,189        58,334        27,337  n      211,860    
Selling, general and administrative       74,861        37,335        12,268  o      124,464    
Restructuring and other costs       (598 )      600        —          2    
Patent infringement settlements, net       695        —          —          695    

         
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Total operating expenses       201,147        96,269        39,605        337,021    

Operating profit (loss)       155,016        (20,290 )      (39,605 )      95,121    

Interest income (expense)       848        95        (4,925 ) p      (3,982 )  
Other income (expense), net       (127 )      (178 )      —          (305 )  

                                         

Income (loss) before income taxes       155,737        (20,373 )      (44,530 )      90,834    
Provision (benefit) for income taxes       47,626        (3,953 )      (9,409 ) q      34,264    

                                         

Net income (loss)     $ 108,111      $ (16,420 )    $ (35,121 )    $ 56,570    
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Earnings (loss) per Share attributable to the stockholders of Cirrus Logic, Inc.:           
Basic     $ 1.72          $ 0.90    
Diluted     $ 1.65          $ 0.86    

Weighted average shares outstanding:           
Basic       62,926            62,926    
Diluted       65,535            65,535    



CIRRUS LOGIC, INC.  
NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED  CONSOLIDATED  

FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION  

The Acquisition is reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information as being accounted for under the 
acquisition method in accordance with guidance on accounting for business combinations under US GAAP. The financial statements prepared 
by Wolfson Microelectronics plc are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board.  

Cirrus Logic is recognizing all assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon the fair value of such assets and liabilities measured as 
of the Acquisition Date. In accordance with the acquisition method of accounting, the aggregate purchase price for Wolfson is being allocated 
to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the Acquisition Date. A 
preliminary allocation as of the Acquisition Date follows (in thousands):  
   

In connection with the Acquisition, Cirrus Logic issued restricted stock awards with a total value of $16 million, which will be expensed 
as the service period is provided.  

The purchase accounting is preliminary and subject to completion, including the areas of taxation inventory, real property, other current 
assets and other accrued liabilities, where valuation assessments are in progress. The adjustments arising from the completion of the 
outstanding matters may materially affect the preliminary purchase accounting.  

In accordance with the guidance on accounting for business combinations, acquisition-related transaction costs and acquisition-related 
restructuring charges are not included as components of consideration transferred but are accounted for as expenses in the period in which the 
costs are incurred. Total acquisition-related transaction costs incurred by Cirrus Logic were approximately $15 million and total acquisition-
related transaction costs incurred by Wolfson were approximately $10 million. The unaudited pro forma financial information does not reflect 
ongoing cost savings or synergies that Cirrus Logic expects to achieve as a result of the Acquisition nor the costs necessary to achieve these 
costs savings or synergies.  

The historical balance sheets of both Cirrus Logic and Wolfson used to create the unaudited pro forma balance sheet are as of each 
company’s first fiscal quarter. Cirrus Logic’s fiscal year ends on the last Saturday of March whereas Wolfson’s fiscal year end is the closest 
Sunday to December 31 st . Both companies’ fiscal year consisted of 52 weeks for all periods presented.  

Certain reclassifications have been made to the historical presentation of Cirrus Logic and Wolfson results to conform to the presentation 
used in the unaudited pro forma financial information. Further review of Wolfson’s financial statements may result in required reclassifications 
to Wolfson’s classifications to conform to Cirrus Logic presentation. Cirrus Logic does not expect that any such reclassifications would be 
material.  

For purposes of estimating the fair value of the assets acquired in the Acquisition, it is assumed that all assets will be used in a manner 
that represents their highest and best use. The favorable impact of buyer-specific synergies expected to be realized upon consummation of the 
Acquisition are excluded. The estimated fair values of the most significant acquired intangible assets are based on the estimated amount and 
timing of projected future cash flows associated with the assets.  

The preliminary estimates of fair values and weighted-average useful lives of the intangible assets will likely differ from the final 
estimates of fair value to be reflected in accounting for the Acquisition, and the difference could have a material impact on the accompanying 
unaudited pro forma financial information. The estimates of fair value  
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Cash     $ 25,182    
Goodwill       208,617    
Acquired intangible assets       175,987    
Inventory       33,803    
Accounts Receivable       23,215    
Other assets       3,437    
Real and personal property       29,093    
Accrued liabilities       (29,853 )  

           

Total cash consideration     $ 469,481    
         

  



and weighted-average useful lives could be impacted by a variety of factors, including legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic or 
other factors. Increased knowledge about these factors could result in a change to the estimated fair value of Wolfson’s intangible assets and/or 
to the estimated weighted-average useful lives from what is assumed in the unaudited pro forma financial information. In addition, the 
combined effect of any such changes could result in a significant increase or decrease to the related amortization expense estimates.  

The components of the acquired intangible assets on a preliminary basis follow (in thousands):  
   

Cirrus Logic and Wolfson had no material intra-company transactions prior to the Acquisition.  

2. DEBT OBLIGATIONS  

Cirrus Logic entered into a three-year loan and security agreement with a bank on August 29, 2014, which included a revolving credit 
facility of up to $250.0 million that matures in August 2017. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility bear either a variable interest rate 
equal to the base prime rate or an adjusted LIBOR plus either an additional 1.50% to 2.00%, subject to certain conditions. To partially fund the 
Acquisition, Cirrus Logic drew down $226 million of indebtedness on its revolving credit facility in August 2014. This $226 million borrowing 
has been reflected in the accompanying unaudited pro forma balance sheet. For purposes of the unaudited pro forma balance sheet, the carrying 
value as of June 28, 2014 was estimated to approximate fair value due to the variable interest rates.  

For purposes of presenting the unaudited pro forma statement of operations, the proceeds from Cirrus Logic’s revolving credit facility of 
$250.0 million that were used to partially fund the Acquisition are assumed to have been outstanding for all of fiscal year 2014, and the 
resulting interest expense on a pro forma basis is reflected in interest expense in the accompanying unaudited pro forma statement of 
operations.  
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Estimated Fair 
 

Value      

Weighted- 
Average  

Estimated 
Useful Life      

Amortization 
 

Expense (52  
weeks)   

Developed technology     $ 74,247         6 years      $ 12,307    
Technology Intellectual Property       14,572         5 years         2,732    
Trademark       1,437         1 year        1,078    
Customer relationships       12,981         10 years        1,298    
In -process research and development       72,750         7 years        9,922    

                         

Total     $ 175,987          $ 27,337    
         

  

            

  



3. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS  

The following is a summary of the adjustments made to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of and for the 
fiscal quarter ended June 28, 2014, and for the year ended March 29, 2014 and should be read in conjunction with Notes above.  
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(a) Reflects a reduction of cash for use in acquiring the Shares in the Acquisition. 

(b) Reflects an estimated initial increase of $6.4 million to Wolfson’s inventories to estimated net realizable value, which has been estimated 
to be sales price less cost to sell plus a reasonable margin for selling effort. In addition, as Cirrus Logic sells the acquired inventory, its 
cost of revenue will reflect the increased valuation of Wolfson’s inventory, which will temporarily reduce Cirrus Logic’s gross margin. 
This impact to gross margin is not considered to have a continuing impact and, as such, is not included in the Unaudited Pro Forma 
Statement of Operations. 

(c) Reflects an estimated initial increase of $9.2 million to Wolfson’s property and equipment to estimated fair value, which has been 
estimated using the replacement cost method. 

(d) Reflects the initial valuation of certain intangible assets associated with the acquisition to a total of $175 million. 

(e) Reflects the initial valuation of goodwill associated with the acquisition to a total of $209 million. 

(f) Reflects an adjustment to liabilities of approximately $10 million associated with the certain acquisition and other costs incurred by 
Wolfson as well as removal of Wolfson’s deferred revenue to estimated fair value. These fees are not included in the unaudited pro forma 
condensed combined statements of operations due to the fact that these expenses are non-recurring and are not expected to have a 
continuing impact on our results of operations. 

(g) Reflects the initial draw on Cirrus Logic’s revolving credit facility of $226 million, which includes $1 million in deferred finance costs, 
as shown in “ Other current assets”  . 

(h) Reflects the following adjustments to Wolfson’s net deferred taxes liabilities (in thousands): 

Deferred tax liability arising from the Acquisition     $ (29,962 )  
Existing deferred income tax asset from Wolfson       18,479    

           

   $ (11,483 )  
         

  

(i) Reflects the consolidation of Wolfson’s net assets. The following pro forma adjustments were made (in thousands): 

Remove Wolfson accumulated other comprehensive income     $  1,998    
Remove Wolfson capital stock       62,127    
Remove Wolfson accumulated earnings       56,576    

         
  

Net assets     $ 120,701    
         

  

(j) Reflects the amortization of acquisition related intangibles for the current quarter. 

(k) Reflects the stock based compensation expense related to the acquisition for the current quarter. 

(l) Reflects the interest expense as a result of the debt from the cash used in the acquisition. Since the financing rate can vary, a sensitivity 
analysis was performed. A 0.125% change in the interest rate could result in approximately a $0.1 million fluctuation in interest expense 
for the period. 

(m) Reflects the tax effect of the above adjustments to the provision, which is a combination of the current UK statutory tax rate and the US 
tax rate. 

(n) Reflects the amortization of acquisition related intangibles for the fiscal year. 
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(o) Reflects the stock based compensation expense related to the acquisition for the fiscal year. 

(p) Reflects the interest expense as a result of the debt from the cash used in the acquisition. Since the financing rate can vary, a sensitivity 
analysis was performed. A 0.125% change in the interest rate could result in approximately a $0.3 million fluctuation in annual interest 
expense for the fiscal year. 

(q) Reflects the tax effect of the above adjustments to the provision, which is a combination of the current UK statutory tax rate and the US 
tax rate. 



Exhibit 99.3 

WOLFSON MICROELECTRONICS LTD  
Unaudited condensed financial statements for the 6-months ended June 29, 2014.  

Condensed consolidated income statement  
   

   
1  

            H1 2014     H1 2013   

            

26-week period  
from 30 December 

 
2013 to 29 June  

2014     

26-week period from 
 

31 December 2012 to 
 

30 June 2013   
     Notes      $’000     $’000   
Revenue       3,4         57,224        93,484    
Cost of sales          (30,635 )      (54,465 )  

            
  

        
  

Gross profit       4         26,589        39,019    
Distribution and selling costs          (9,227 )      (11,392 )  
Research and development expenses          (23,080 )      (29,544 )  
Administrative expenses          (5,605 )      (6,248 )  
Past service cost on defined benefit plan (Exceptional)       5         —          (600 )  

                        

Operating loss          (11,323 )      (8,765 )  

Financial income          13        78    
Financial expenses          (72 )      (115 )  

                        

Net financing expense          (59 )      (37 )  
                        

Loss before tax          (11,382 )      (8,802 )  
Income tax credit       6         2,277        1,753    

                        

Loss for the period attributable to the owners of the Company          (9,105 )      (7,049 )  
            

  

        

  

Basic loss per share (cents)          (7.79 )      (6.04 )  
Diluted loss per share (cents)          (7.79 )      (6.04 )  



Condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income  
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     H1 2014     H1 2013   

     

26-week  
period from 
30 December 

 
2013 to  
29 June  

2014      

26-week  
period from  

31 December 
 

2012 to  
30 June  
2013    

     (Unaudited)     (Unaudited)   
     $’000     $’000   

Loss for the period       (9,105 )      (7,049 )  

Other comprehensive income:       
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss:       
Actuarial (loss) / gain on net defined benefit obligations       (1,435 )      1,931    
Decrease / (increase) in defined benefit liabilities recognised in accordance with IFRIC 14       1,596        (2,100 )  
Movement in unrecognised surplus on defined benefit plan (excluding amounts in net interest cost)       (366 )      (1,828 )  
Deferred tax on net defined benefit items recognised in equity       41        459    

                     

     (164 )      (1,538 )  
                     

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:       
Foreign exchange translation differences on foreign operations       —          (4 )  
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges       (665 )      (2,088 )  

                     

     (665 )      (2,092 )  
                     

Other comprehensive income for the period       (829 )      (3,630 )  
                     

Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to the owners of the Company       (9,934 )      (10,679 )  
         

  

        

  



Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets  
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As at 29 June 
 

2014      

As at 29 December 
 

2013   
     (Unaudited)          
     $’000      $’000   
ASSETS        

Property, plant and equipment       19,317         20,501    
Intangible assets       33,237         32,073    
Deferred tax assets       20,527         17,403    

         
  

         
  

Total non-current assets       73,081         69,977    

Inventories       24,566         24,221    
Trade and other receivables       21,307         28,899    
Other investments, including derivatives       1,724         2,389    
Short-term deposits       —           —      
Cash and cash equivalents       20,696         25,886    

                      

Total current assets       68,293         81,395    
                      

Total Assets       141,374         151,372    
         

  

         

  

EQUITY        
Issued share capital       195         194    
Share premium account       62,460         61,430    
Capital redemption reserve       503         503    
Hedging reserve       1,724         2,389    
Retained earnings       51,909         60,429    

                      

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent       116,791         124,945    
                      

LIABILITIES        
Employee benefits       2,304         3,900    
Other payables       670         483    

                      

Total non-current liabilities       2,974         4,383    
                      

Income tax payable       39         78    
Trade and other payables, including derivatives       21,095         20,966    
Provisions       475         1,000    

                      

Total current liabilities       21,609         22,044    
                      

Total Liabilities       24,583         26,427    
                      

Total equity and liabilities       141,374         151,372    
         

  

         

  



Unaudited Condensed consolidated statement of changes in equity  
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     Attributable to owners of the Company   

     
Share 
capital      

Share  
premium      

Capital  
redemption 

 
reserve      

Hedging 
 

reserve     

Retained 
 

earnings     
Total  
equity   

     $’000      $’000      $’000      $’000     $’000     $’000   
Balance at 31 December 2012       194         61,253         503         621        77,339        139,910    

                                                                

Loss for the period       —           —           —           —          (7,049 )      (7,049 )  
Other comprehensive income:                  
Actuarial gain on net defined benefit items       —           —           —           —          1,931        1,931    
Movement in unrecognised surplus on defined benefit plan       —           —           —           —          (1,828 )      (1,828 )  
Increase in defined benefit liabilities recognised in accordance with 

IFRIC 14       —           —           —           —          (2,100 )      (2,100 )  
Deferred tax on net defined benefit items recognised in equity       —           —           —           —          459        459    
Foreign exchange translation differences on foreign operations       —           —           —           —          (4 )      (4 )  
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges       —           —           —           (2,088 )      —          (2,088 )  

                                                                

Total comprehensive income for the period ended 30 June 2013       —           —           —           (2,088 )      (8,591 )      (10,679 )  
                                                                

Equity settled share-based payment transactions       —           —           —           —          886        886    
Deferred tax on equity settled share-based payment transactions 

recognised in equity       —           —           —           —          (327 )      (327 )  
Share options exercised by employees       —           91         —           —          —          91    
Company shares acquired by employee trust       —           —           —           —          (2 )      (2 )  

                                                                

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of the Company       —           91         —           —          557        648    
         

  
         

  
         

  
         

  
        

  
        

  

Balance at 30 June 2013       194         61,344         503         (1,467 )      69,305        129,879    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

        

  

        

  

     $’000      $’000      $’000      $’000     $’000     $’000   
Balance at 30 December 2013       194         61,430         503         2,389        60,429        124,945    

                                                                

Loss for the period       —           —           —           —          (9,105 )      (9,105 )  
Other comprehensive income:                  
Actuarial loss on net defined benefit items       —           —           —           —          (1,435 )      (1,435 )  
Movement in unrecognised surplus on defined benefit plan (excluding 

amounts in net interest cost)       —           —           —           —          (366 )      (366 )  
Decrease in defined benefit liabilities recognised in accordance with 

IFRIC 14       —           —           —           —          1,596        1,596    
Deferred tax on net defined benefit items recognised in equity       —           —           —           —          41        41    
Foreign exchange translation differences on foreign operations       —           —           —           —          —          —      
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges       —           —           —           (665 )      —          (665 )  

                                                                

Total comprehensive income for the period ended 29 June 2014       —           —           —           (665 )      (9,269 )      (9,934 )  
                                                                

Equity settled share-based payment transactions       —           —           —           —          40        40    
Deferred tax on equity settled share-based payment transactions 

recognised in equity       —           —           —           —          713        713    
Share options exercised by employees       1         1,030         —           —          —          1,031    
Company shares acquired by employee trust       —           —           —           —          (4 )      (4 )  

                                                                

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of the Company       1         1,030         —           —          749        1,780    
                                                                

Balance at 29 June 2014       195         62,460         503         1,724        51,909        116,791    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

        

  

        

  



Unaudited Condensed consolidated statement of cash flows  
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     H1 2014     H1 2013   

     

26-week  
period from 
30 December 

2013 to  
29 June  

2014      

26-week  
period from  

31 December 
2012 to  
30 June  
2013    

     $’000     $’000   
Cash flow from operating activities       
Loss for the period       (9,105 )      (7,049 )  
Adjustments for:       
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment loss on property, plant and equipment       4,815        5,009    
(Gain) / loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment       (40 )      —      
Foreign exchange (gain) / loss       (891 )      433    
Net financing expense       59        37    
Equity -settled share-based payment (credits) / expenses       40        886    
Income tax credit       (2,277 )      (1,753 )  

                     

     (7,399 )      (2,437 )  
Decrease / (increase) in inventories       (345 )      (10,308 )  
Decrease in trade and other receivables       7,562        7,181    
(Decrease) / increase in trade and other payables       (689 )      (5,358 )  
Decrease in provisions and employee benefits       (2,104 )      (3,099 )  

                     

Cash (absorbed by) / generated from the operations       (2,975 )      (14,021 )  
Income tax (paid) / received       (72 )      113    

         
  

        
  

Net cash (outflow) / inflow from operating activities       (3,047 )      (13,908 )  
                     

Cash flow from investing activities       
Interest received       13        86    
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets       (3,121 )      (2,593 )  
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment       40        —      
Deferred consideration on acquisition in prior periods       (800 )      (1,600 )  
Amounts withdrawn from short -term deposits       —          20,000    

                     

Net cash (outflow) / inflow from investing activities       (3,868 )      15,893    
                     

Cash flow from financing activities       
Proceeds from the issue of share capital       1,031        91    
Company shares acquired by employee trust       (4 )      (2 )  
Interest paid       (8 )      (10 )  

                     

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from financing activities       1,019        79    
                     

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents       (5,896 )      2,064    
Cash and cash equivalents at start of period       25,886        19,974    
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held       706        (191 )  

                     

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period       20,696        21,847    
         

  

        

  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period       20,696        21,847    
Short-term deposits at end of period       —          8,000    

                     

Total cash and short-term deposits at end of period       20,696        29,847    
         

  

        

  



Notes to the condensed half year financial statements (unaudited)  
   

The condensed interim financial statements set out above contain the interim financial information of Wolfson Microelectronics Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) for the twenty-six week period ended 29 June 2014. The comparative 
period is the twenty-six week period ended 30 June 2013.  

The financial information set out in these interim statements has been prepared in compliance with IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting . The 
interim statements do not include all of the information required for a complete set of IFRS financial statements. However, selected explanatory 
notes are included to explain events and transactions that are significant to an understanding of the changes in the Group’s financial position 
and performance since the last annual consolidated financial statements as at and for the fifty-two week period ended 29 December 2013.  

   

The condensed set of financial statements has been prepared applying the accounting policies and presentation that were applied in the 
preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the fifty-two week period ended 29 December 2013.  

There are no new accounting standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that are currently relevant for the Group in the current 
financial period and that are mandatory for the first time for financial periods commencing on 30 December 2013.  

Use of estimates and judgements  

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management necessarily makes judgements and estimates that have a significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the condensed interim financial statements. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Changes in the 
assumptions underlying the estimates could result in a significant impact to the interim financial statements. The most critical of these 
accounting judgement and estimation areas were noted in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the fifty-two week period ended 
29 December 2013.  

Income tax  

Income tax in the interim period is calculated using the tax rate that would be applicable to expected total annual pre-tax results. A reduction in 
the UK corporation tax rate, from 23% to 21% was effective from 1 April 2014 with a further reduction in the UK corporation tax rate, from 
21% to 20% to be effective from 1 April 2015. Therefore the relevant deferred tax balances as at 29 June 2014 have been measured using a UK 
corporation tax rate of 20%.  

   

The revenue of the Group is generally more weighted towards the second half of the financial year in line with consumer spending and demand 
in the lead up to the main holiday period. The Group attempts to minimise the seasonal impact through the management of inventories to meet 
demand during this period, however the first half of the financial year typically results in lower revenues and operating results.  

   

The chief operating decision-maker is the Chief Executive Officer (‘CEO’) of the Group. The CEO reviews the Group’s internal reporting in 
order to assess performance and allocate resources. Management has determined the operating segments based on these reports.  

The Group has two reportable segments, which reflect the organisational structure in the internal reporting as used by the CEO in order to 
assess performance and allocate resources. These two reportable segments are the Group’s Audio Hubs and Discrete and Power Products 
segments which are reported separately to the chief operating decision-maker to allow greater management focus on the Audio Hubs strategy. 
The following summary describes the operations in the Group’s reportable segments:  

Audio Hubs – this segment includes the supply and sale of Wolfson’s Audio Hubs high performance audio integrated circuit solutions. Audio 
Hubs are feature-rich devices which contain many of Wolfson’s audio technologies combined into a single Hub device.  
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  1. Basis of preparation 

  2. Accounting policies 

  3. Seasonality of revenue 

  4. Segment information 



Discrete and Power Products – this segment includes the supply and sale of integrated circuits which are discrete components, such as : 
Analogue-to-Digital Converters; Digital-to-Analogue Converters; and this segment also includes those components which are power 
management integrated circuits and the silicon microphone devices based on Micro-Electro-Mechanical Systems (‘MEMS’) technology.  

The other operating segment does not meet any of the quantitative thresholds for determining a reportable segment in the periods presented 
and, accordingly, the relevant revenue and segment gross profits are shown as ‘other operating segment’.  

The CEO assesses the performance of the operating segments based on revenue and a measure of gross profit. The gross profit measurement 
basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure from operating segments, such as restructuring costs and exceptional inventory write 
downs. Interest income and expenditure are not included in the result for each operating segment that is reviewed by the CEO. Other 
information provided to the CEO is measured in a manner consistent with that in the financial statements. The segment information is prepared 
using accounting policies consistent with those of the Group as a whole. There were no inter-segment transactions in the periods presented.  

The assets and liabilities of the Group are not reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker on a segment basis. Therefore none of the 
Group’s assets and liabilities are segmental assets and segmental liabilities respectively and all are unallocated for segmental disclosure 
purposes.  
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     H1 2014     H1 2013   

     

26-week  
period from 
30 December 

 
2013 to  
29 June  

2014     

26-week  
period from  

31 December 
 

2012 to  
30 June  
2013   

     $’000     $’000   

Segment revenue:       
Audio Hubs       41,263        78,207    
Discrete and Power Products       15,886        15,205    
Other operating segment       75        72    

                     

Total revenue for the period       57,224        93,484    
         

  

        

  

Segment gross profit:       
Audio Hubs       19,001        31,370    
Discrete and Power Products       7,770        7,674    
Other operating segment       (182 )      (25 )  

                     

     
                     

Total gross profit for segments in the period       26,589        39,019    
         

  

        

  



A reconciliation of gross profit to total loss before income tax is provided as follows:  
   

Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:  
   

   

There were no exceptional charges recognised in the twenty-six week period ended 29 June 2014.  

Past service cost on defined benefit plan.  

Exceptional charge recognised in the twenty-six week period ended 30 June 2013 and in the fifty-two week period ended 29 December 2013:  

In November 2012 the Group initiated an Enhanced Transfer Value (ETV) offer to the 83 deferred members of the Company’s defined benefit 
pension scheme. The Group estimated (for accounting purposes) the projected level of take up of the ETV offer and, as a result, recognised an 
exceptional charge of $1.4 million in the thirteen and fifty-two week periods ended 30 December 2012. Following the closure of the ETV offer, 
the actual accounting cost of the ETV to be recognised was $2.0 million for those members that decided to take up the offer. Therefore the 
difference of $0.6 million between the actual accounting cost and the estimated cost of $1.4 million, recorded as at 30 December 2012, was 
recognised as an exceptional charge in the Group’s condensed financial statements in the twenty-six week period ended 30 June 2013 and in 
the financial statements for the fifty-two week period ended 29 December 2013.  
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     H1 2014     H1 2013   

     

26-week  
period from 
30 December 

 
2013 to  
29 June  

2014     

26-week  
period from  

31 December 
 

2012 to  
30 June  
2013   

     $’000     $’000   

Gross profit for segments       26,589        39,019    
         

  

        

  

Gross profit for the period       26,589        39,019    
Corporate overheads       (37,912 )      (47,184 )  
Exceptional item       —          (600 )  

                     

Operating loss for the period       (11,323 )      (8,765 )  
Financial income       13        78    
Financial expense       (72 )      (115 )  

                     

Loss before tax       (11,382 )      (8,802 )  
         

  

        

  

     

As at  
29 June  

2014      

As at  
29 December 

 
2013   

     $’000      $’000   
Total assets for reportable segments       —           —      
Assets for other operating segments       —           —      
Goodwill and acquired intangible assets: from acquisition of Sonaptic limited       22,237         20,637    
Goodwill and acquired intangible assets: from acquisition of Oligon Limited       4,024         4,024    
Goodwill and acquired intangible assets: from acquisition of Dynamic Hearing Pty Limited       4,305         4,860    
Other unallocated assets       110,808         121,851    

                      

Consolidated total assets       141,374         151,372    
         

  

         

  

  5. Exceptional charge 



The income tax credit for the twenty-six week period ended, and the related deferred tax asset as at 29 June 2014 reflects the estimated total 
effective tax rate on the result before taxation for the Group of approximately 20% for the current financial period. This reflects the UK 
corporation tax rate applicable for that period as favourably affected by tax allowances on research and development expenditure but adversely 
impacted by disallowable expenses and the lower UK corporation tax rate, of 20%, applicable to the recognition of deferred tax.  

   

During the twenty-six week period ended 29 June 2014, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with a cost of $155,000 ( twenty-six 
week period ended 30 June 2013: $993,000 ) and also intangible assets with a cost of $3,040,000 ( twenty-six week period ended 30 June 
2013:$2,726,000 ).  

As at 29 June 2014, the Group had commitments to purchase property, plant and equipment and intangible assets of $2,367,000 ( as at 30 June 
2013: $6,956,000 ) of which $1,819,000 is expected to be settled in 2014 and $548,000 in 2015.  

   

Defined benefit obligations  

The Group makes deficit repair contributions to a UK-based defined benefit plan that provides pension benefits for UK employees upon 
retirement. The defined benefit plan and actuarial assumptions are based on sterling denominated assets and liabilities. The defined benefit 
pension scheme was closed to new entrants with effect from 2 July 2002. The scheme closed to future accrual with effect from 30 April 2011 
and therefore the Group is no longer required to pay contributions in respect of future accrual.  

The Group and the Trustees of the defined benefit pension scheme have agreed on an outline funding policy which will aim to eliminate 
£1 million (approximately $1.6 million) of buyout deficit every year, either by means of liability reduction measures, contributions, or both.  

Funding  

The defined benefit pension obligation is calculated using an actuarial update as at 29 June 2014. The latest triennial valuation of this defined 
benefit pension scheme was as at 29 February 2012.  

Since the defined benefit pension scheme is closed to future accrual and since there will no longer be regular contributions into the scheme, 
there is some uncertainty regarding the recoverability of the net asset, being the IAS 19 net surplus on the scheme as at 29 June 2014. 
Accordingly the surplus of $2.7 million on the defined benefit pension scheme as at 29 June 2014, calculated in accordance with IAS 19 
(Revised in 2011), has not been recognised. The Group is targeting to completely close the scheme over the next five to ten years through a 
combination of liability reduction exercises, such as buy ins, buy outs and enhanced transfer values, all of which will likely cost more than the 
IAS 19 funded obligations assume.  

During the twenty-six week period ended 29 June 2014, the Group paid a deficit repair contribution of £1 million ($1.6 million) into the plan 
( twenty-six week period ended 30 June 2013: $nil ). The total amount due under the current schedule of contributions is approximately $2.3 
million as at 29 June 2014, being $1.7 million payable by 30 April 2015 and $0.6 million by 30 April 2016. In accordance with IFRIC 14, the 
present value of this remaining commitment (being $2.3 million) was recognised as a liability as at 29 June 2014. There was a similar type of 
commitment at 30 June 2013 and at 29 December 2013 in respect of the schedule of contributions in place at those dates.  
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  6. Income tax credit 

  7. Property, plant and equipment 

  8. Employee benefits 



Net surplus / (liability) for defined benefit obligations as at 29 June 2014  
   

Enhanced Transfer Value offer  

In November 2012, the Group initiated an Enhanced Transfer Value (ETV) offer to the 83 deferred members of this defined benefit pension 
scheme and this offer was closed in February 2013. Details of the accounting treatment of the cost of this ETV offer are contained in Note 5. 
During the twenty-six week period ended 30 June 2013, the Company paid $2.1 million into the defined benefit pension scheme in respect of 
the ETV offers which were accepted by some of the deferred members of this pension scheme. The impact of the accepted offers was to reduce 
the scheme assets and obligations by approximately $11 million, or approximately one third, thereby reducing the buyout deficit by around 
$4.5 million.  

Share-based payments  

The share-based payment expense (and the expense / (credit) for the related payroll taxes) recognised for each period was:  
   

The total share-based compensation expense (including related payroll taxes) was lower in the twenty-six week period ended 29 June 2014, 
compared to the expense for the twenty-six week period ended 30 June 2013, primarily as a result of credits recognised in respect of share-
based awards with non-market performance conditions which are no longer expected to vest, partly offset by the increase in share price.  

During the twenty-six week period to 29 June 2014, the Group granted: a maximum of, subject to the achievement of performance conditions, 
3,534,095 performance shares (in the form of nil cost options) to executive directors and senior management; and 1,195,665 contingent shares 
to employees ( twenty-six weeks to 30 June 2013: 2,303,876 performance shares (in the form of nil cost options) to executive directors and 
senior management; and 880,643 contingent shares to employees ). Both of these categories of share-based payment have an estimated 
weighted average life of three years. The weighted average fair values of those share-based payments, which were granted in the twenty-six 
week period to 29 June 2014, are 127 pence and 127 pence respectively ( the weighted average fair values for those share-based payments 
granted in the twenty-six week period ended 30 June 2013 were: 191.12 pence and 193.09 pence respectively ).  
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As at  
29 June  

2014     

As at  
29 December 

 
2013     

As at  
30 June  

2013   
     $’000     $’000     $’000   
Present value of funded obligations       (25,523 )      (22,662 )      (19,660 )  
Fair value of plan assets       28,176        24,898        21,488    

                               

Net surplus for defined benefit obligations       2,653        2,236        1,828    
Unrecognised surplus       (2,653 )      (2,236 )      (1,828 )  
Increase in liabilities recognised in accordance with IFRIC 14       (2,304 )      (3,900 )      (3,600 )  

                               

Recognised liability for defined benefit obligations       (2,304 )      (3,900 )      (3,600 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

     H1 2014      H1 2013   

     

26-week  
period from 
30 December 

 
2013 to  
29 June  

2014       

26-week  
period from  

31 December 
 

2012 to  
30 June  
2013    

     $’000      $’000   
Total expense recognised, in accordance with IFRS 2       62         892    
Share-based Payment, in personnel expenses during the period        
Related payroll taxes accrual: expense / (credit) in personnel expenses during the period      383         (107 )  

                      

Total expense recognised in the period for share-based compensation (including related 
payroll taxes)       445         785    

         

  

         

  



Accounting classifications and fair values  

The carrying amounts in the condensed consolidated balance sheet and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their 
levels in the fair value hierarchy are shown in the table below. It does not include the fair value information for financial assets and financial 
liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.  
   

Fair value hierarchy  

The preceding table analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels are defined as follows:  
   

   

   

The significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments are regularly reviewed by the Chief Financial Officer.  

Significant valuation issues are reported to the Audit Committee of Cirrus Logic.  
   

11  

  9. Financial instruments 

As at 29 June 2014   Carrying amount     Fair value   

    

Fair value- 
hedging  

instruments     
Designated at fair 

value      
Loans and 
receivables     

Other  
financial 
liabilities     Total     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total   

    $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000     $000   
Financial assets measured at fair value                    
Forward foreign exchange contracts used 

for hedging      1,724        —          —          —          1,724        —          1,724        —          1,724    
Financial assets not measured at fair value                   
Trade and other receivables      —          —          21,307        —          21,307            
Cash and cash equivalents      —          —          20,696        —          20,696            
Short-term deposits      —          —          —          —          —              

                                                          

    —          —          42,003        —          42,003            
        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

Financial liabilities measured at fair value                   
Contingent consideration      —          (4,089 )      —          —          (4,089 )      —          —          (4,089 )      (4,089 )  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Financial liabilities not measured at fair 
value                    

Trade and other payables      —          —          —          (17,676 )      (17,676 )          
        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  •   Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

  
•   Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 

or indirectly; 

  •   Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 



The following table shows the valuation technique and the key unobservable inputs used in the determination of fair value of the contingent 
consideration liability.  
   

   

Details of the determination of Level 3 fair value measurements and the transfer out of Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy during the twenty-six 
weeks ended 29 June 2014 are set out below.  
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  i. Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs 

     Valuation technique    Significant unobservable inputs    

Inter -relationship between significant 
unobservable inputs and fair value  
measurement 

Contingent 
consideration 

   

The fair value is determined by 
considering the expected payment, 
discounted to present value using a risk-
adjusted discount rate. The expected 
payment is determined by considering 
the possible scenarios in respect of: the 
business milestones (in relation to the 
contingent consideration for the Sonaptic 
acquisition) or the utilisation of pre-
acquisition tax losses (in relation to the 
contingent consideration for the Dynamic 
Hearing acquisition); the amount to be 
paid under each scenario.    

Probability assessments regarding extent 
of: achievement of milestones (in relation 
to the contingent consideration for the 
Sonaptic acquisition); and utilisation of 
pre-acquisition tax losses (in relation to 
the contingent consideration for the 
Dynamic Hearing acquisition). Estimated 
timing of: achievement of milestones; 
and utilisation of pre-acquisition tax 
losses.  
   

Risk adjusted discount rate.  

   

The estimated fair value would increase 
if: The assessment of probability was 
higher in respect of achieving the 
relevant milestones and / or utilising the 
pre-acquisition losses. The estimated 
timing, of achievement of milestones 
and / or use of the pre-acquisition tax 
losses, was earlier. The risk-adjusted 
discount rate was lower. 

  ii. Level 3 fair values 

     $’000   
Balance at 30 December 2013       (3,207 )  
Amounts of consideration paid in the period       800    
Total gains and losses recognised in profit or loss: finance expense       (82 )  
Revision to contingent consideration on Sonaptic acquisition recognised in 

goodwill       (1,600 )  
           

Balance at 29 June 2014       (4,089 )  
         

  


